## Western University Scholarship@Western

**Digitized Theses** 

**Digitized Special Collections** 

2010

# Annexin A5 Inhibits Myocardial Inflammation and Improves Cardiac Function during Endotoxemia in Mice

Paul Arnold

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/digitizedtheses

#### **Recommended Citation**

Arnold, Paul, "Annexin A5 Inhibits Myocardial Inflammation and Improves Cardiac Function during Endotoxemia in Mice" (2010). *Digitized Theses*. 3717. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/digitizedtheses/3717

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Digitized Special Collections at Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Digitized Theses by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

## Annexin A5 Inhibits Myocardial Inflammation and Improves Cardiac Function during Endotoxemia in Mice

(Spine title: Effects of Annexin A5 on Cardiac Function in Endotoxemia)

(Thesis format: Monograph)

By:

#### **Paul Arnold**

2 Graduate Program in Physiology

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada

© Paul Arnold 2010

#### Abstract

Sepsis is a complex clinical syndrome that results from a harmful or damaging host response to infection. Sepsis is characterized by the production of proinflammatory cytokines like TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ , which have been shown to contribute to cardiovascular dysfunction. Annexin A5 is a phospholipid binding protein that has been shown to have anti-inflammatory, anti-apoptotic and anti-coagulant properties. However, its effect on cardiac function during sepsis has not been established. This thesis investigated the effect of annexin A5 on myocardial cytokine production and cardiac function during endotoxemia in mice. It was found that annexin A5 treatment at the onset of endotoxemia abrogated TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  production and prevented cardiac dysfunction. Annexin A5 likely interacts with cell-surface receptor TLR4 to inhibit myocardial cytokine expression to protect against cardiac dysfunction during endotoxemia. These results suggest that annexin A5 provides a novel protective role in the heart during endotoxemia.

Keywords: Annexin A5, tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ , toll-like receptor-4, cardiac function, sepsis

#### Statement of Co-Authorship

The experiments outlined in this thesis were performed by Paul Arnold in the laboratory of Dr. Qingping Feng, with the assistance of co-authors as listed below.

Dr. Qingping Feng was instrumental in experimental design, data interpretation, and manuscript preparation for all experimentation. My advisory committee consisting of Dr. Doug Jones, Dr. Frank Beier and Dr. Morris Karmazyn provided guidance and scrutiny to my studies.

Dr. Sharon Lu provided training in experimental techniques and performed the *in vivo* and *ex vivo* cardiac function procedures (Figure 12 and 13, Table 1). Dr. Houxiang Hu and Ms. Murong Liu performed adult cardiomyocyte isolation (Figure 17), and Ms. Murong Liu performed neonatal cardiomyocyte isolation (Figure 16). As a 480 student, Yin Liu performed and assisted in many experiments that are included in this thesis. Dr. Dylan Burger, Dr. Lamis Hammoud, Ting Zhang, and Fuli Xiang provided valuable technical assistance.

### Dedication

I dedicate this work to my family who have shaped me into the person I am today. Mom and Dad, you have never failed to give me encouragement and support. You have always challenged me to be my best, and you have taught me to pursue God above all else. Thank you for your love.

Dave and Mike, all I am is a reflection of you. It is debatable whether that is a good thing or a bad thing, but I wouldn't have it any other way.

To my friends who have challenged me, stretched me, encouraged me, and supported me. I am forever indebted.

To my beautiful fiancée Krista: I can only hope to give you the same love and support you have given me, but I am excited to have the rest of my life to try.

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to my supervisor Dr. Qingping Feng for your support and guidance throughout my MSc studies. Your commitment to excellence and enthusiasm for your work is something I will carry with me for the rest of my life. You have always been patient and generous to me and have given me the ability to grow as a student and a person. I will forever cherish my time working with you.

To the Feng laboratory, it has been an honour to grow and learn with such a wonderful group. Foremost thanks go to Dr. Sharon Lu. I couldn't have completed this work without your teaching, guidance, and trouble-shooting. You are truly an inspiration and I thank you for caring for me as a person, not just a scientist. To the rest of the Feng laboratory, Dr. Lamis Hammoud, Dr. Dylan Burger, Fuli Xiang, Ting Zhang, Yin Liu, Yan Wu, Dr. Houxiang Hu, and Ms. Murong Liu thank you for all your help. You have made my time as a graduate student incredibly satisfying and enjoyable.

To my advisory committee Dr. Doug Jones, Dr. Morris Karmazyn, and Dr. Frank Beier, I want to thank you for your patience and guidance with regards to my studies. You have shown me the value of excellence and I will take the experiences I have learned during my studies with me for the rest of my life. I would also like to thank Tom Stavraky for the great experience of TAing Phys 3130y.

vi

### **Table of Contents**

Title Page	i
Certificate of Examination	ii
Abstract	.iii
Statement of Co-Authorship	.iv
Dedication	v
Acknowledgements	.vi
Table of Contents	vii
List of Figures	.ix
List of Tables	X
List of Abbreviations Symbols and Nomenclature	.xi
Chapter 1 - INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Sepsis	1
1.1.1 Overview of Sepsis	1
1.1.2 Myocardial Dysfunction during Sepsis	2
1.2 TNF-α and IL-1β during Sepsis	6
1.2.1 Overview	6
1.2.2 TNF- $\alpha$ and IL-1 $\beta$ Production in the Heart during Sepsis	7
1.2.3 TNF- $\alpha$ and IL-1 $\beta$ in Myocardial Dysfunction during Sepsis	8
1.3 Innate Immune Response	9
1.3.1 Overview of the Innate Immune Response Following Infection	9
1.3.2 Lipopolysaccharide	11
1.3.3 TLR4 Signalling and LPS Recognition	12
1.3.5 Phosphatidylserine	14
1.4 Annexin A5	15
1.4.1 Annexin A5 Overview	15
1.4.2 Annexin A5 Structure and Binding	16
1.4.3 Annexin A5 Function	19
1.5 Hypothesis and Research Objectives	20
Chapter 2 - METHODS	.22
2.1 Experimental Protocol	22
2.2 Western Blot Analysis	.24

2.3	RNA Isolation and RT-PCR	5
2.4	ELISA	7
2.5	Langendorff Perfusion System	7
2.6	Hemodynamic Analysis	8
2.7	Macrophage Isolation	9
2.8	Isolation of Neonatal Cardiomyocytes	0
2.9	Isolation of Adult Cardiomyocytes	1
2.10	Co-Immunoprecipitation	3
2.11	Statistical Analysis	4
Chapt	ter 3 - RESULTS	5
3.1 MAF	Annexin A5 Treatment Abrogates LPS-induced Myocardial p38 and ERK K Phosphorylation	5
3.2 mRN	Annexin A5 Treatment Abrogates LPS-induced Myocardial TLR4 and NOX2 IA Expression	5
3.3 Expr	Annexin A5 Treatment Attenuates LPS-induced Myocardial TNF-α and IL-1β ression	0
3.4 Endo	Annexin A5 Treatment Attenuates Cardiac Dysfunction During otoxemia4	3
3.5 Endo	Annexin A5 Treatment Attenuates Hemodynamic Dysfunction During otoxemia4	3
3.6 Leve	Annexin A5 Treatment Attenuates LPS-induced Plasma TNF- $\alpha$ and IL-1 $\beta$ els	4
3.7	Annexin A5 Does Not Affect LPS-induced Macrophage TNF-α Production4	9
3.8 TNF	Effects of Annexin A5 on Neonatal and Adult Cardiomyocyte LPS-induced -α Production	9
3.9	Annexin A5 Binds to TLR4	4
Chap	ter 4 - DISCUSSION	6
4.1	Findings	7
4.2	Limitations6	4
4.3	Suggestions for Future Research	6
4.4	Conclusion6	8
Chap	ter 5 - REFERENCES6	9
APPE	NDICES	1
App	endix: UWO Animal Use Sub-Committee Protocol Approvals9	1
Curr	iculum Vitae9	2

## List of Figures

Figure 1. The innate immune system: the body's first line of defense against
infection10
Figure 2. Diagram of lipopolysaccharide structure
Figure 3. Schematic illustrating the known functions of annexin A5
Figure 4. Proposed mechanism of annexin A5 on the LPS-induced TLR4-signalling
pathway leading to TNF- $\alpha$ expression and myocardial dysfunction
Figure 5. In vivo experimental protocol
Figure 6. Annexin A5 abrogates LPS-induced myocardial p38 MAPK
phosphorylation
Figure 7. Annexin A5 abrogates LPS-induced myocardial ERK1/2 MAPK
phosphorylation
Figure 8. Annexin A5 abrogates LPS-induced myocardial TLR4 mRNA expression 38
Figure 9. Annexin A5 abrogates LPS-induced myocardial NOX2 mRNA expression.39
Figure 10. Annexin A5 attenuates LPS-induced myocardial TNF- $\alpha$ expression41
Figure 11. Annexin A5 abrogates myocardial IL-1 $\beta$ mRNA expression
Figure 12. Annexin A5 attenuates cardiac dysfunction during endotoxemia
Figure 13. Annexin A5 attenuates hemodynamic dysfunction during endotoxemia 46
Figure 14. Annexin A5 attenuates LPS-induced plasma TNF- $\alpha$ and IL-1 $\beta$ levels48
Figure 15. Annexin A5 does not affect LPS-induced TNF- $\alpha$ production in isolated
macrophages
Figure 16. Annexin A5 does not affect LPS-induced TNF- $\alpha$ production in
neonatal
cardiomyocytes
Figure 17. Annexin A5 abrogates LPS-induced TNF- $\alpha$ and IL-1 $\beta$ mRNA expression
in adult cardiomyocytes
Figure 18. Annexin A5 interacts with TLR4 in myocardial tissue as determined by co-
immunoprecipitation analysis

### List of Tables

Table 1. In vivo	hemodynamic measurements	in mice with	n endotoxemia	47	1
------------------	--------------------------	--------------	---------------	----	---

## List of Abbreviations Symbols and Nomenclature

ANOVA	analysis of variance
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma 2
BPM	beats per minute
BSA	bovine serum albumin
Ca <sup>2+</sup>	calcium
CD-14	cluster of differentiation 14
cDNA	complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
CI	cardiac index
CO <sub>2</sub>	carbon dioxide
СО	cardiac output
СООН	carboxyl group
cNOS	constitutive nitric oxide synthase
DEPC	diethylpyrocarbonate
+dF/dt <sub>max</sub>	maximal rate of force development during contraction
-dF/dt <sub>min</sub>	minimal rate of force reduction during relaxation
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
dNTP	deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate
+dP/dt <sub>max</sub>	maximal rate of left ventricular pressure development during
	contraction
-dP/dt <sub>min</sub>	maximal rate of left ventricular pressure reduction during
	relaxation
DTT	dithiothreitol
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EDVI	end diastolic volume indexes
EF	ejection fraction
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
eNOS	endothelial nitric oxide synthase
ERK	extracellular signal-related kinase

ESVI	end systolic volume indexes
FADD	fas-associated protein with death domain
FBS	fetal-bovine serum
FCS	fetal-calf serum
H <sub>2</sub> O	water
HCl	hydrochloric acid
HRP	horse-raddish peroxidase
IL-1β	interleukin-1
IL-1R	interleukin-1 receptor
i.m.	intramuscular
iNOS	inducible nitric oxide synthase
i.p.	intraperitoneal
i.v.	intravenous
JNK	c-Jun NH <sub>2</sub> -terminal kinase
kDa	kilodalton
LPS	lipopolysaccharide
LV	left ventricle
LVEDP	left ventricular end diastolic pressure
LVEF	left ventricular ejection fraction
LVESP	left ventricular end systolic pressure
LVEDV	left ventricular end diastolic volume
LVSP	left ventricular systolic pressure
MAP	mean arterial pressure
МАРК	mitogen activated protein kinase
MI	myocardial infarction
M-MLV	Moloney murine leukemia virus
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate- reduced form
NF-ĸB	nuclear factor kappa B
NH <sub>2</sub>	amine group
NO	nitric oxide

NOX2	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase
O <sub>2</sub>	oxygen
P38	protein-38
PAMP	pathogen associated molecular patterns
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
P-ERK	phosphorylated extracellular signal-related kinase
P-p38	phosphorylated protein-38
PRR	pattern recognition receptors
PS	phosphatidylserine
RNA	ribonucleic acid
rRNA	ribosomal ribonucleic acid
RT	reverse transcriptase
RT-PCR	reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate
SEM	standard error of the mean
SIRS	systemic inflammatory response syndrome
SVR	systemic vascular resistance
TACE	tumor necrosis factor alpha converting enzyme
Tau	time constant of isovolumic relaxation
TLR	toll-like receptors
TNF-α	tumor necrosis factor alpha
TNFR1	tumor necrosis factor receptor 1
TNFR2	tumor necrosis factor receptor 2
TIRAP	toll-interleukin 1 receptor domain containing adaptor protein
TRADD	tumor necrosis factor receptor type 1-associated death domain
	protein
TRIF	TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon- $\beta$
USP	United States Pharmacopeia
WT	wild-type

#### **Chapter 1 - INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Sepsis

#### 1.1.1 Overview of Sepsis

Sepsis is a complex clinical syndrome that is characterized by a systemic inflammatory response to infection. Amplification and regulation of the inflammatory response is mediated by the innate immune system in an effort to control and remove the foreign pathogen(s). Various cell types including monocytes, leukocytes, endothelial cells, and even tissue cells work together in a concerted effort to prevent host damage caused by the foreign pathogen. However, ironically sepsis is not a result of the primary infection, but rather the amplified and deregulated host immune response (reviewed by Cohen 2002).

In humans, sepsis is clinically identified when a patient has met 2 of the stated criteria for systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) and there is evidence of an infection or suspected infection (reviewed by King 2007). These criteria include body temperature greater than 38°C or less than 36°C, heart rate greater than 90 beats/min, respiratory rate greater than 20 breaths/min, and a white blood cell count greater than 12000/mm<sup>3</sup>, less than 4000/mm<sup>3</sup>, or greater than 10% immature forms (Bone et al. 1992). The majority of infections that lead to sepsis originate in the lungs, but infections can commonly originate in the gastrointestinal tract, urinary tract, and in wounds (reviewed by Sriskandan and Cohen 1995).

Septic shock is a subset of severe sepsis and is currently the  $2^{nd}$  leading cause of death in intensive care units and the  $10^{th}$  leading cause of death in the United States

(Angus et al. 2001; Martin et al. 2003). In Canada, just over 30% of patients hospitalized with sepsis died, compared to 18% for stroke patients and 9.1% for heart attack patients (CIHI 2007; CIHI 2009). Septic shock is accompanied by multiple organ dysfunction, hypotension, and tissue hypoperfusion which can lead to death if the host is unable to compensate for the inflammatory response (reviewed by Kumar et al. 2001). Current therapies include anti-microbial treatments and aggressive fluid resuscitation to modulate the host response and maintain adequate blood pressure for organ perfusion (reviewed by Rivers et al. 2001). Yet, despite a decrease in mortality rate over the last decade, the total number of sepsis-associated deaths continued to increase as the incidence of sepsis rose (Martin et al. 2003). The increasing incidence will continue to put a substantial burden on health care that reportedly spends \$17 billion annually for approximately 750,000 cases in the United States (Angus et al. 2001; Martin et al. 2003).

#### 1.1.2 Myocardial Dysfunction During Sepsis

The cardiovascular system is involved in many of the sepsis-associated mortalities resulting from refractory hypotension or cardiovascular collapse (reviewed by Krishnagopalan et al. 2002). The majority of these deaths reflect an inability of the cardiovascular system to adapt to the hyperdynamic state manifested during sepsis and not a direct result of the pathology (Parker et al. 1984). Consequently, survivors have reversible compensatory mechanisms that return cardiovascular function to normal range within 7-10 days, while non-survivors fail to dilate the left ventricle (LV) and are unable to maintain stroke volume and cardiac output (CO) (Parker et al. 1984). Early understanding of cardiovascular manifestations of septic shock was hindered by limitations of available technology. With the introduction of the pulmonary artery catheter, it was shown that patients with septic shock exhibited a volume resuscitation-dependent hyperdynamic circulatory state, consisting of high cardiac index (CI) and reduced systemic vascular resistance (SVR) (reviewed by Krishnagopalan et al. 2002). The strong correlation between elevated CI and survival highlights the ability of survivors to demonstrate compensatory mechanisms (Nishijima et al. 1973; Parker et al. 1990). It has been well established that myocardial contractility is compromised during sepsis leading to decreased ejection fraction (EF) (Parker et al. 1984; Natanson et al. 1986). As a result, the LV is dilated in an effort to maintain stroke volume and CO in light of decreased cardiac contractility, which increases end diastolic and end systolic volume indexes (EDVI/ESVI) (reviewed byParrillo et al. 1990). Therefore, there is a strong negative correlation in survivors between EDVI and EF that is not found in nonsurvivors (reviewed byParrillo et al. 1990).

The cause of the apparent myocardial dysfunction remained elusive for many years. The predominant theory was that during sepsis the heart suffered from hypoperfusion similar to other organs. Decreased SVR and an increased hypercoagulatory state which leads to enhanced deposition of fibrin clots in small blood vessels, contribute to inadequate tissue perfusion and subsequent organ failure (reviewed by Cohen 2002). However, two findings by Cunnion et al. 1986 dispelled this theory for the heart during sepsis. They showed that there was no change in coronary blood flow and no myocardial lactate extraction, evidence that the heart's metabolic energy supply was not compromised (Cunnion et al. 1986). The latter was later confirmed by the preservation of myocardial oxygen metabolism and high-energy phosphates supporting the suggestion that myocardial ischemia is not present during sepsis (Hotchkiss et al. 1991; Solomon et al. 1994).

Two more theories for sepsis-induced cardiac dysfunction have also proven to be flawed. First, although the activities of proapoptotic caspases are increased in hearts during endotoxemia, the rate of apoptosis is too low and disproportionate to the severity of cardiac dysfunction for apoptosis to be responsible (Carlson et al. 2005; reviewed by Crouser 2005). Second, during sepsis neutrophil accumulation is not prevalent in the heart like it is in other organs and it has been shown that neutrophil accumulation is not required for cardiac dysfunction (Raeburn et al. 2002; Peng et al. 2003; Tavener and Kubes 2006).

However, it was shown that compromised ventricular contractility, and not structural damage, was the major cause of depression in early septic shock (Ognibene et al. 1988). Evidence suggested the presence of humoral factors contributing to shock and cardiac dysfunction after neonatal rat myocyte contractility was depressed when exposed to sera from acute phase septic shock patients (Parrillo et al. 1985). Further studies confirmed that endogenous cytokines, like tumour necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ), fit the biochemical profile of a 'myocardial depressant substance' that can produce many of the same hemodynamic abnormalities seen during sepsis (Natanson et al. 1989). It has been shown that other cytokines, like interleukin-1 $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ ), act synergistically with TNF- $\alpha$  to directly depress cardiac function (Cain et al. 1999). There appear to be two distinct stages in which cardiac depression occurs after exposure to foreign pathogens or cytokines. The early stage, which can occur within minutes, appears to be nitric oxide (NO) independent (Yokoyama et al. 1993), while the later stage, influential after several hours, is believed to be NO-dependent (reviewed by Meldrum 1998). While studies have linked early myocardial depression and TNF- $\alpha$ expression to NO production from constitutive nitric oxide synthase (cNOS) or endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) (Finkel et al. 1992; Kinugawa et al. 1994; Peng et al. 2003), it is believed that NO does not play a major role until the induction of inducible NOS (iNOS), which produces NO in much larger amounts and doesn't occur until approximately 5-12 hr after induction of sepsis (Wolfard et al. 2000; reviewed by Kumar et al. 2001).

Septic myocardial depression involves reversible attenuation of the strength of myocyte contraction. Only 2 mechanisms can account for this change: 1) decreased cytosolic Ca<sup>2+</sup> release and 2) decreased myofilament sensitivity to Ca<sup>2+</sup> (reviewed by Kumar et al. 2001). The early stage of myocardial depression is a result of decreased Ca<sup>2+</sup> transient during systole through the sphingosine-dependent inhibition of ryanodine receptors (Yokoyama et al. 1993; Oral et al. 1997). In the later stage, the induction of iNOS by TNF- $\alpha$  results in increased NO levels which can react with oxygen radicals in the cell and create peroxynitrite. Increased NO and peroxynitrite levels desensitize the myofilament to Ca<sup>2+</sup> leading to sustained contractile dysfunction (Goldhaber et al. 1996). Yet, the precise mechanism of cardiac depression during sepsis remains somewhat elusive. Studies have also emphasized the importance of innate cell receptors, adhesion molecules, and components of the complement system in regulating sepsis-

associated cardiac depression, making a potential therapeutic method difficult to establish (Raeburn et al. 2002; Tavener et al. 2004; reviewed by Rittirsch et al. 2008).

#### 1.2 TNF-α and IL-1β during Sepsis

#### 1.2.1 Overview

The defining characteristic of sepsis is the excessive production of proinflammatory cytokines that contribute to systemic inflammation. Cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  have been implicated in the pathogenesis of myocardial dysfunction and cardiomyocyte death in ischemia/reperfusion injury, sepsis, and chronic heart failure (Levine et al. 1990; reviewed by Meldrum 1998).

Cytokines are a family of peptides that include peptide growth factors, erythropoietin, transforming growth factor- $\beta$ , and inflammatory cytokines (eg. TNF- $\alpha$ , interleukins, interferons). Therefore, not surprisingly, they display significant functional diversity in which TNF- $\alpha$  alone can activate growth-promoting effects or initiate programmed cell death.

TNF- $\alpha$  is a 17 kDa pyrogen that was initially discovered as the molecule associated with necrotizing effects in mouse tumors (Carswell et al. 1975), but it is well established that TNF- $\alpha$  is an important inflammatory cytokine that contributes to a wide range of organ pathologies (reviewed by Meldrum 1998). TNF- $\alpha$  remains inactive until it is inserted into the membrane where it undergoes post-translational modification by TNF- $\alpha$  converting enzyme (TACE) prior to its release into the extracellular space (McGeehan et al. 1994). Through TNF- $\alpha$  receptors 1 and 2 (TNFR1, TNFR2), TNF- $\alpha$ can activate receptor-associated domains like FADD and TRADD, the 'death domain', and TRAF to initiate the activation of caspases and nuclear factor-kappaB (NF-κB) (Chinnaiyan et al. 1995; Hsu et al. 1995).

Proinflammatory cytokines act to increase their own production through activation of transcription factors like NF- $\kappa$ B. IL-1 $\beta$  is produced in response to TNF- $\alpha$ , but was the first cytokine shown to have a wide range of biological properties (reviewed by Dinarello 2005). Increased expression of IL-1 $\beta$  has been implicated in sepsis and rheumatoid arthritis, where treatment with a receptor antagonist decreased inflammation (Bresnihan et al. 1998).

#### 1.2.2 TNF-α and IL-1β Production in the Heart During Sepsis

Traditionally, the liver and spleen are viewed as the primary sources of TNF- $\alpha$  because they have large populations of macrophages, a major source TNF- $\alpha$  production. In the heart however, cardiomyocytes can produce substantial amounts of TNF- $\alpha$  in response to ischemia or lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (Giroir et al. 1992; Kapadia et al. 1995; Gurevitch et al. 1996; Grandel et al. 2000). Although it has been proposed that resident macrophages and cardiomyocytes produce equal amounts of TNF- $\alpha$  in the myocardium, our lab has shown cardiomyocytes to be the major source of TNF- $\alpha$  after LPS exposure (Peng et al. 2003).

Cytokine production during sepsis is adaptive in the short term to fight and clear bacteria, but becomes maladaptive after excessive or long term exposure (reviewed by Elahi et al. 2007). TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  levels increase during sepsis and septic shock with elevated TNF- $\alpha$  plasma levels being associated with increased mortality in septic patients (Casey et al. 1993). However, inhibition of TNF- $\alpha$  has failed to demonstrate an improvement in survival of septic patients (Abraham et al. 1995; Fisher et al. 1996). This is likely due to multiple redundant pathways and is evidence to the complexity of the disease.

#### 1.2.3 TNF- $\alpha$ and IL-1 $\beta$ in Myocardial Dysfunction During Sepsis

The negative impact of TNF- $\alpha$  on cardiovascular function was first observed during immunomodulatory therapy for cancer (Blick et al. 1987; Steinmetz et al. 1988). Since then it was identified as a 'myocardial depressant substance' responsible for many of the cardiac abnormalities observed during sepsis (Natanson et al. 1989). Additionally, many of the biological effects of TNF- $\alpha$  are mirrored by IL-1 $\beta$  (Last-Barney et al. 1988). Synergy of actions between the cytokines can cause myocyte depression at concentrations 50-100 times lower than required individually (Gulick et al. 1989).

Administration of TNF- $\alpha$  or IL-1 $\beta$  into animals or *in vitro* and *ex vivo* tissue results in a concentration-dependent depression of contractility (Finkel et al. 1992; Cain et al. 1999). TNF- $\alpha$  challenge in dogs simulates cardiac depression during human septic shock (Natanson et al. 1989) and cardiac specific TNF- $\alpha$  over expression in mice induces LV dilatation, reduced EF, and premature mortality (Kubota et al. 1997; Bryant et al. 1998). Inhibition of excessive cytokine action through IL-1 $\beta$  receptor antagonists or TNF- $\alpha$  production pathway inhibitors improves myocardial function in response to septic shock (Wakabayashi et al. 1991; Peng et al. 2003).

#### 1.3 Innate Immune Response

#### 1.3.1 Overview of the Innate Immune Response Following Infection

The innate immune system is the body's first line of defense against infection. Macrophages, neutrophils, mast cells, and effector cells trigger the inflammatory response observed during sepsis in an effort to hold the potential infection in check (Figure 1) (reviewed by Warren 2005). Increased vascular permeability, vasodilation, inflammation, and coagulation are initiated in a concerted attempt to isolate and remove foreign pathogen(s) without compromising oxygen and nutrient delivery throughout the body (Clark et al. 2007). Sepsis results when the inflammatory response is exaggerated and becomes damaging to the host. Although deficiency of the innate immune response is associated with an increased susceptibility to infection (reviewed by Rosenzweig and Holland 2004), a greater threat is posed by an excessive inflammatory response (reviewed by Smith 1994).

Innate immunity requires recognition of evolutionarily conserved pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) associated with particular classes of pathogens. Toll, a *Drosophila* receptor essential for the production of antimicrobial peptides in response to fungal pathogens, led to the discovery of a family of mammalian transmembrane Toll-like receptors (TLR) (reviewed by Miller et al. 2005). TLRs are genome-encoded pattern recognition receptors (PRR) responsible for the identification of foreign pathogens and initiation of the immune response. TLR4, the human homologue of *Drosophila* Toll, is responsible for recognition of gram-negative bacteria, which accounts for approximately 37% of sepsis-associated infections (Angus et al. 2001; Martin et al. 2003). Gram-positive bacteria and fungi are responsible for the remainder.



**Figure 1**. The innate immune system is the body's first line of defense against infection. Innate immunity requires recognition of foreign pathogens by pathogen recognition receptors (PRR) to initiate an immune response that involves pro-inflammatory cytokine production in an effort to control and remove foreign pathogens from the body.

#### 1.3.2 Lipopolysaccharide

Lipopolysaccharide (LPS), also referred to as endotoxin, is a major element of gram-negative bacterial cell walls and is essential for membrane structure and integrity. The lipid A portion of LPS serves to anchor LPS in the bacterial cell wall and is the component recognized by PRRs of the innate immune system. The presence of endotoxins has been correlated with increased mortality and shown to qualitatively mimic many hemodynamic, hematologic, and metabolic manifestations of sepsis (Natanson et al. 1986; Casey et al. 1993).



Figure 2. Diagram of lipopolysaccharide structure. Adapted from Caroff et al., 2002.

LPS is amphiphilic and consists of polysaccharide and glycophospholipid portions (Figure 2) (reviewed by Caroff et al. 2002; reviewed by Jerala 2007). The polysaccharide segment is hydrophilic and composed of three sections: the inner core, outer core, and O-specific chain. Bacterial species stereotype specificity and protection from host defence is conferred to the O-specific chain which consists of 1-8 sugar repeating units (reviewed by Caroff et al. 2002). The glycophospholipid segment is the hydrophobic and negatively charged portion called lipid A. Lipid A is highly diverse and defines the function of LPS through the varied number and length of fatty-acid side chains (reviewed by Miller et al. 2005; reviewed by Jerala 2007). It is stabilized by divalent cations and because of its hydrophobic nature, it serves as the anchor to the bacterial cell wall (reviewed by Caroff et al. 2002). LPS is recognized in mammals by TLR4, which upon activation is responsible for the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines that characterizes sepsis and septic shock (Baumgarten et al. 2001).

#### 1.3.3 TLR4 Signalling and LPS Recognition

TLR homologues are found in all multicellular organisms. They are traditionally expressed on the cell surface but are also found in intracellular compartments and in the bloodstream and tissue fluids. The principal functions of TLRs include induction of apoptosis, opsonization, activation of proinflammatory pathways, and initiation of complement and coagulation cascades (reviewed by Janeway and Medzhitov 2002).

Drosophila Toll was the first member of the 10-member Toll family known to have functional similarities to human IL-1R (ie. TIR domain) because of it's ability to induce activation of the transcription factor NF- $\kappa$ B during the immune response (reviewed by Janeway and Medzhitov 2002). NF- $\kappa$ B is the most important transcription factor that regulates cytokine expression and has been shown to be activated by grampositive and –negative bacteria, viruses, cytokines, free radicals, and oxidants (reviewed by Zingarelli 2005). Activation of NF- $\kappa$ B, which involves translocation to the nucleus, can occur within 30 minutes of TLR activation in the myocardium (Baumgarten et al. 2001).

Macrophages are the most studied cell type in understanding LPS signalling through TLR4. Recognition of LPS requires the help of accessory proteins like LPS binding protein (LBP) and CD-14 to transfer LPS to the membrane and enable interactions with TLR4, respectively (reviewed by Janeway and Medzhitov 2002). MD-2 is another small extracellular protein tightly bound to TLR4, which binds directly to LPS and is essential for LPS signalling (Shimazu et al. 1999). The precise role of these accessory proteins remains unclear but mice deficient in any of the LPS receptor components are more susceptible to gram-negative bacterial infection and are hyporesponsive to LPS administration (Haziot et al. 1996; Shimazu et al. 1999).

Upon activation by LPS, TLR4 functions as a homodimer to allow its intracellular TIR domain to interact with the adaptor molecules MyD88, TIRAP/MAL, TRAM, and TRIF to initiate signalling (reviewed by Warren 2005). The eventual activation of NF- $\kappa$ B is regulated by various signalling molecules like NOX2 (NADPH Oxidase) and the mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK). Our lab has shown previously that NOX2 and the MAPKs p38 and extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) play a pivotal role in regulating TLR4 signalling, and thus the production of proinflammatory cytokines in cardiomyocytes (Peng et al. 2003; Peng et al. 2005).

Activation of TLR4 in cardiomyocytes correlates with increased cytokine production (Baumgarten et al. 2001) and decreased cardiomyocyte contractility (Boyd et al. 2006). In addition, studies that inhibit TLR4 function through competitive inhibition or point mutations have decreased TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  levels and improved myocardial function in response to LPS (Baumgarten et al. 2001; Nemoto et al. 2002; Baumgarten et al. 2006). Therefore TLR4-dependent cytokine production is necessary for myocardial depression during sepsis.

#### 1.3.5 Phosphatidylserine

Phosphatidylserine (PS) is a negatively charged phospholipid normally asymmetrically distributed by an ATP-driven phospholipid translocase (flippase) on the cytosolic surface of cell membranes (reviewed by Vance and Steenbergen 2005). It is believed that PS is involved in regulating membrane charge and protein localization at cytosol facing membrane leaflets. However during periods of stress such as apoptosis, coagulation or anoxia, inhibition of translocase and the  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent activation of scramblase result in PS translocation to the outer membrane leaflet, where it serves as a signal to the extracellular environment (Kuypers et al. 2007).

During coagulation, PS becomes exposed after activation of the endothelium and platelets to serve as the docking site for prothrombinase complex assembly (reviewed by Vance and Steenbergen 2005). During apoptosis, exposed PS is known as an 'eat me' signal for phagocytosis by monocytes. However, while PS exposure is often used as a marker for apoptosis (Koopman et al. 1994), it is not a determined path to apoptosis. Exposure of PS can occur independent of apoptotic mechanisms (Balasubramanian et al. 2007) and has been shown in T-lymphocytes and myoblasts to modulate signal transduction and mediate cell-cell interactions without committing to apoptosis (van den Eijnde et al. 2001; Elliott et al. 2005).

#### 1.4 Annexin A5

#### 1.4.1 Annexin A5 Overview

Annexin A5 is a 37kDa protein and part of a 13-member family of ubiquitously and constitutively expressed proteins; however, no single annexin is expressed in all cells. All members of the annexin family must satisfy two major criteria: 1) they must be capable of reversibly binding in a Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent manner to negatively charged phospholipids, and 2) they must contain as a conserved structural element, the 'annexin repeat', a segment of some 70 amino acids (reviewed by Gerke and Moss 2002).

Annexins are soluble intracellular proteins that are freely distributed in the cytoplasm at resting  $Ca^{2+}$  levels and move to the membranes when  $Ca^{2+}$  levels are elevated (reviewed by Gerke et al. 2005). Interestingly, some annexins including annexin A5 have been found to have extracellular functions even though they lack a secretory sequence (reviewed byGerke and Moss 2002). The approximate circulating concentration of annexin A5 is less than 5 ng/ml (Flaherty et al. 1990), and because of its relatively small size, it is readily filtered by the kidney and only has a half-life of roughly 15 minutes (Kuypers et al. 2007).

Although the annexin family lacks functional unity, all of the known functions involve phospholipid membrane interactions because of their ability to bind to

negatively charged phospholipids. Annexin A5 has a unique ability to form a two dimensional crystal shield on planar lipid bilayers containing negatively charged phospholipids, in particular phosphatidylserine (PS) (Voges et al. 1994; Oling et al. 2000). This two dimensional shield is what gives annexin A5 its trade mark anticoagulant and anti-apoptotic functions (Figure 3) (van Heerde et al. 1994; London et al. 1996; Kenis et al. 2006). In addition, annexin A5 has also been shown to be involved in membrane scaffolding, Ca<sup>2+</sup> signalling, and membrane-associated internalization (reviewed by van Genderen et al. 2008). Annexin A5's apparent ability to internalize PS expressing membrane patches has even caused it to be proposed as a target for intracellular drug delivery into living tumors (reviewed by Kenis et al. 2007). The mechanism of such a phenomenon is still relatively unknown as it is independent of traditional endocytotic pathways like those of macropinocytosis and receptor-mediated internalization.

#### 1.4.2 Annexin A5 Structure and Binding

Each annexin is made up of 2 principal domains: a conserved COOH-terminal protein core, and a divergent NH<sub>2</sub>-terminal head. The COOH-terminal core consists of 4 homologous  $\alpha$ -helices forming a slight curvature with 2 principle sides. The convex side contains the Ca<sup>2+</sup> and phospholipid binding sites that face the membrane when bound. The concave side points away from the membrane and appears accessible for interactions with the NH<sub>2</sub>-terminal domain or other binding partners (reviewed by Gerke and Moss 2002). The variable NH<sub>2</sub>-terminal head confers the functional specificity for each annexin as it extends along the concave side of the protein core (reviewed by Swairjo and Seaton 1994). The protein core forms a hydrophilic pore between the repeat

1/4 and 2/3 modules where it is believed the  $NH_2$ -terminal head may be involved in the regulation of  $Ca^{2+}$  conductance through the central pore (reviewed by Gerke and Moss 1997). However, the *in vivo* evidence for  $Ca^{2+}$  conductance is scarce, making annexin



**Figure 3**. Schematic illustrating the known functions of annexin A5. Annexin A5 binds to cell receptors or exposed phosphatidylserine (PS) on the surface of various cell types like cardiomyocytes, endothelial cells, and platelets. Annexin A5 has the unique ability to form a two-dimensional shield on cell membranes to sterically hinder cell receptor function and PS interaction with various extracellular factors to inhibit coagulation, apoptosis, and inflammation.

Figure Legend:



Phosphatidylserine (PS)



Cell Receptor

Cell Membrane

A5's ability to form  $Ca^{2+}$  channels inconclusive. The diameter of the central pore is inconsistent with the observed conductance values and annexins lack the obvious

exposed hydrophobic regions typical of membrane spanning proteins (reviewed by Swairjo and Seaton 1994; reviewed by Gerke et al. 2005). Therefore it is difficult to assign traditional ion channel properties to the annexins.

Among the annexins, annexin A5 requires the highest  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration of 10  $\mu$ M – 100  $\mu$ M for half-maximal binding (reviewed by Gerke and Moss 1997). With  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration of approximately 1 mM in the circulation, any expressed PS on the cell surface favors the rapid binding of annexin A5 (reviewed by van Genderen et al. 2008). In solution, annexin A5 molecules exist as monomers, but upon binding, they form trimers to assemble a two-dimensional crystal lattice over the surface of PS-expressing membranes (Voges et al. 1994; Oling et al. 2000). It has not yet been demonstrated whether annexin A5 can crystallize on PS-expressing cell surfaces, but *in vitro* studies using constructed phospholipid bilayers demonstrate that crystal lattice density is dependent on PS content and Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration. Annexin A5's associate with each other through amino acid mediated protein-protein interactions (reviewed by van Genderen et al. 2008).

The asymmetrical structure of annexin A5 may lead to membrane indentation that could be a necessary mechanism for both  $Ca^{2+}$  channel signalling and PS-dependent membrane internalization (reviewed byKenis et al. 2004; reviewed by Gerke et al. 2005). Membrane internalization has been associated with annexin A5's ability to regulate cell-surface receptor expression (Ravassa et al. 2005) and interestingly, annexin A5 has also been shown to bind to and inhibit the function of cell-surface membrane receptors (Leon et al. 2006). In a study investigating the regulation of epithelial junctions in the kidney, it was found that a conserved sequence in the  $NH_2$ -terminal of annexin A5 interacts with a leucine-rich repeat of polycystin-1 to delay the recruitment of E-cadherin at cell-cell epithelial junctions (Markoff et al. 2007).

#### 1.4.3 Annexin A5 Function

Annexin A5 was originally identified as an anti-coagulant in the human placenta to protect against vascular thromboembolism and recurrent pregnancy loss (Reutelingsperger et al. 1985). Annexin A5 has been localized to the apical surface of syncytiotrophoblasts (placentas) where removal or inhibition of annexin A5 leads to loss of placental integrity and pregnancy loss (Wang et al. 1999). Annexin A5 has the ability to interact with exposed PS on platelets and endothelial cells and inhibit prothrombinase complex formation and platelet adhesion through competitive inhibition (van Heerde et al. 1994; Galan et al. 2006; Ghosh et al. 2007). Furthermore, because of its anticoagulant functions, connections have been made between annexin A5 expression and the incidence of early myocardial infarction (MI) in individuals under 45 years old. A decrease of annexin A5 was associated with early MI patients (Roldan et al. 2002) while an increase in expression through a common polymorphism decreases the risk of early MI two-fold (Gonzalez-Conejero et al. 2002).

However, the most commonly used function of annexin A5 is as a marker of apoptosis. Annexin A5 can be easily conjugated with a wide range of markers to identify exposed PS on the surface of apoptotic cells (Koopman et al. 1994; Vermes et al. 1995). Annexin A5 has also been shown to have anti-apoptotic properties by inhibiting macrophage or neutrophil phagocytosis that identifies exposed PS as an 'eatme' signal (Krahling et al. 1999; Kenis et al. 2006; Maugeri et al. 2009).

Some annexins also have the ability to moderate inflammation by controlling leukocyte rolling and adhesion along inflamed vascular beds (Damazo et al. 2005). Diannexin, a recombinant human annexin A5 homodimer, provided profound antiinflammatory protection against liver ischemia/reperfusion injury (Shen et al. 2007; Teoh et al. 2007). Inhibition of pro-inflammatory molecule expression and recruitment maintained microvascular circulation that dramatically improved survival in rat liver transplants (Shen et al. 2007).

#### 1.5 Hypothesis and Research Objectives

The role of annexin A5 in sepsis-associated inflammation has not been previously investigated. This thesis proposes a novel function of annexin A5 as an inhibitor of inflammation through cell-receptor signalling. The objectives of the results presented in this thesis are to 1) identify annexin A5's interaction with the TLR4 signalling pathway, and to 2) determine if annexin A5 provides protection against sepsis-mediated cardiac dysfunction.

We hypothesized that annexin A5 inhibits TLR4-depedent myocardial TNF- $\alpha$  expression and improves cardiac function in endotoxemic mice (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Proposed mechanism of annexin A5 on the LPS-induced TLR4-signalling pathway leading to TNF- $\alpha$  expression and myocardial dysfunction.

#### **Chapter 2 - METHODS**

#### 2.1 Experimental Protocol

#### Animals

The mice used in these studies were wild-type (WT) C57BL/6 (Jackson Laboratories, Bar Harbor, ME). A breeding program was carried out at the Lawson Health Research Institute animal care facility to produce offspring. A total of 103 adult (3-4 months old) male mice weighing 21-26 g were studied. Eighty-seven mice were randomly assigned to the following groups: saline (sham, n=23), recombinant human annexin A5 (n=20), lipopolysaccharide (LPS, n=22), and LPS plus recombinant human annexin A5 treatment group (n=22). In addition, 16 mice were used for macrophage (n=12) and adult cardiomyocyte (n=4) studies. All animals were used in accordance with the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care and experimental protocols were approved by the Animal Use Subcommittee at the University of Western Ontario, Canada.

#### Treatments

LPS and annexin A5 treatment time was 4 hr for all measured parameters except for western blot samples, which were collected after 30 min (Figure 5). Western blot samples were taken after 30 min because LPS-induced MAPK phosphorylation was not detectable after 4 hr. The control group received intraperitoneal (i.p.) and intravenous (i.v.) saline injections. The annexin A5 alone group received 5 µg/kg i.v. injections of human recombinant annexin A5 (Biovision, Mountain View, CA) and i.p. saline injections. The LPS alone group received 4 mg/kg i.p. injections of *Salmonella typhosa*  LPS (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). The LPS+annexin A5 group received sequential injections at the same concentrations used in the individual treatment groups (Figure 5).



Figure 5. In vivo experimental protocol. Mice were separated into 4 treatment groups of control, annexin A5, LPS, and LPS+annexin A5. The LV was collected for western blot samples after 30 min treatment. After 4hr treatment, the LV was isolated for TLR4, NOX2, TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-1 $\beta$  mRNA analysis, and TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  protein expression after 4 hr treatment. Blood samples were also collected after 4 hr for TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  protein expression. Cardiac function was assessed after 4 hr treatment using *in vivo* and *ex vivo* techniques.

#### Sample Collection

After the treatment period, the mice were sacrificed and the hearts were then excised and the LVs were isolated and stored at -80°C. For hemodynamic assessment, mice were anesthetized with an intramuscular (i.m.) injection of a ketamine (50 mg/kg) and xylazine (12.5 mg/kg) mixture. Blood samples were collected by cardiac puncture into 1.5 mL eppendorf tubes containing 10  $\mu$ l of heparin (1,000 USP units/mL, Pharmaceutical Partners of Canada Inc., Richmond Hill, ON). Plasma was obtained after centrifugation of the blood for 10 min at 5,000 rpm.
# 2.2 Western Blot Analysis

#### Protein Isolation and Measurement

Heart tissues were homogenized in cold lysis buffer (0.5% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), 1 mM EDTA, 10 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5) and sonicated for 10 seconds at 2 output watts. Protein concentrations were measured using a Lowry protein assay (Bio-Rad, Mississauga, ON) with bovine serum albumin (BSA) as the standard. Concentrations were measured to allow equal loading of 60 µg protein per well.

#### Gel Electrophoresis

Samples were run on 10% polyacrylamide gels containing SDS. The proteins were separated by gel electrophoresis in a blotting cell (Bio-Rad, Mississauga, ON) for 90-120 min at 100 V using a Power Pac 300 (Bio-Rad, Mississauga, ON).

#### Western Blot

Samples were transferred from the gel onto nitrocellulose membranes overnight at 25 V in 4°C or for 1 hr transfer at 100 V in ice. Membranes were blocked in trisbuffered saline tween-20 (TBS-T) containing 5% non-fat dehydrated milk at room temperature for 1hr. After several washes with TBS-T, the blots were probed with antibodies against α-actinin (anti-mouse; 1:2000, Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA) p38 (phospho-p38 - anti-rabbit; total-p38 - anti-rabbit; 1:1000, Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA) and ERK (phospho-ERK - anti-rabbit; total-ERK - anti-rabbit; 1:2000, Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA) for overnight at 4°C. Blots were then washed with TBS-T and probed with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (1:2000, BioRad, Mississauga, ON) for 1 hr at room temperature according to animal specificity of primary antibodies. Detection was performed using Luminol Enhancer Solution (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL) detection method and signals were determined by densitometry (FluorChem 8000, Alpha Innotech Corp., San Leandro, CA).

#### 2.3 RNA Isolation and RT-PCR

#### Tissue RNA Isolation and Measurement

Total RNA was isolated from the LV by lysing the tissue with TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON) as previously described (Song et al. 2000; Hammoud et al. 2007). The lysate was vigorously mixed with chloroform before centrifugation at 12,000 g for 15 min at 4°C to separate the RNA in the aqueous phase of the solution. Isopropanol was added and the sample was centrifuged at 12,000 g for 10min at room temperature to precipitate the RNA samples. The supernatant was decanted and the precipitated RNA pellet was washed with 75% ethanol. Ethanol was removed and the pellet was vacuum-dried for ~5 min. The pellet was re-suspended in diethylpyrocarbonate (DEPC)-H<sub>2</sub>O and kept at 70°C for 10 min. RNA concentration was then quantified by measuring the absorbance at 260/280 nm using a RNA/DNA calculator (Pharmacia Biotech, Gene Quant II, Baie d'Urfe, QC).

#### cDNA Synthesis

cDNA was synthesized from the isolated RNA using M-MLV reverse transcriptase (RT) and random primers (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON). One  $\mu$ g of RNA and 1  $\mu$ l of random primers were mixed in DEPC-H<sub>2</sub>O. Samples were then combined with a reverse transcriptase mix consisting of 1<sup>st</sup> strand buffer, 0.1 M DTT, 10 mM dNTP, RNAse inhbitor, and M-MLV RT (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON). The final mixture was then incubated at 37°C for 2 hr. Samples were incubated at 65°C for 10 min to inactivate the reverse transcriptase enzyme, and the cDNA was diluted with 40  $\mu$ L of sterilized H<sub>2</sub>O.

#### RT-PCR

Real-time PCR was conducted using SYBR Green PCR Master Mix as per manufacturer's instructions (ABM Inc., Richmond, BC). The oligonucleotide primers for TNF-α were sense 5' CCGATGGGTTGTACCTTGTC 3' and antisense 5' GGGCTGGGTAGAGAATGGAT 3'. The primers for IL-1β were sense 5' ACAAGGAGAACCAAGCAACGAC 3' and antisense 5' GCTGATGTACCAGTTGGGGGAAC 3'. The primers for TLR4 were sense 5' CCTGGAATGGGAGGACAATCC 3' and antisense 5' CCATGTGTTCCATGGGCTCTC 3'. The primers for NOX2 were sense 5' GCTGGAAACCCTCCTATGACTTG 3' and antisense 5' TGTACTGTCCCACCTCCATCTTG 3'. Twenty eight S rRNA was used as a loading control using oligonucleotide primers for sense 5' TTGAAAATCCGGGGGGAGAG 3' and antisense 5' ACATTGTTCCAACATGCCAG 3'. All primers were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Samples were amplified for 35 cycles at T<sub>m</sub>'s appropriate for each primer set using MJ Research Opticon Real-Time PCR machine (South San Francisco, CA). mRNA levels were compared to that of 28S rRNA, and the relative amount of mRNA was obtained.

# 2.4 ELISA

TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  cytokine levels were measured using separate enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) Ready-Set-Go! Kits from eBioscience Inc (San Diego, CA). Briefly, 96-well plates were incubated with anti-mouse TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  primary capture antibody in ELISA Coating Buffer overnight at 4°C. Between each step, wells were washed for 1-2 min  $\sim$ 5 times with wash buffer (PBS + 0.05% Tween-20). Wells were blocked with assay diluent for 1 hr at room temperature. Standards and samples were added to the wells at a total volume of 100  $\mu$ l/well. TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  standards provided by the kits ranged from 15.6-500 pg/mL after serial dilutions. Culture media from primary cultures and plasma from isolated blood samples were added to the wells at a volume of 100 µl/well. Tissue samples were homogenized in PBS with proteinase inhibitors (1:1000) and added to the wells at a concentration of 200 µg protein/well. Assay diluent was added to reach the total well volume of  $100 \mu l$ . Standards and samples were incubated overnight at 4°C or at room temperature for 2 hr. After removal of standards and samples, the wells were incubated with the detection antibody for 1 hr at room temperature. Then the wells were incubated with the active enzyme Avidin-HRP for 30 min at room temperature. The working substrate solution was then added to the wells for 10-15 min at room temperature before addition of the stop solution (1M  $H_3PO_4$ ) to end the reaction. The plate was read at 450nm using SpectraMax M5 plate reader and SoftMax Pro software (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA).

# 2.5 Langendorff Perfusion System

Langendorff perfusion preparations were prepared according to the methods previously described (Peng et al. 2005). After treatment, mice were given heparin (50

USP units/mouse) before sacrifice. Hearts were retrieved and the ascending aorta was cannulated and attached to the Langendorff perfusion system. Hearts were perfused with bubbled (mixture of 95%  $O_2$  and 5%  $CO_2$ ) Krebs solution at a rate of 2 mL/min (~100 mmHg). Myocardial function was assessed by securing a 6-0 silk suture approximately 2mm from the apex of the LV which was also attached to a lightweight coupling rod. The coupling rod was connected to a force-displacement transducer (model FTO3, Grass Instruments, West Warwick, RI) to record tension and heart rate. Tension was maintained at 2 grams during recordings. The heart work was calculated by multiplying the force (grams) by the heart rate (bpm). Maximal and minimal first derivatives of force (+dF/dt<sub>max</sub> and -dF/dt<sub>min</sub>) used to approximate the rate of contraction and relaxation were analyzed by PowerLab Chart 4 program (AD Instruments, Colorado Springs, CO).

#### 2.6 Hemodynamic Analysis

Hemodynamic measurements were performed as previously described (Feng et al. 2001; Peng et al. 2003). Mice treated with LPS were given subcutaneous saline injections (0.5 mL) every ½ hr for the 4 hr treatment time. Volume resuscitation was not necessary in control mice. Mice were then anesthetized with a ketamine (50 mg/kg) and xylazine (12.5 mg/kg) mixture for catheter placements. Body temperature was monitored by a rectal temperature probe (TC-1000 Temperature Controller, CWE Inc., Ardmore, PA) and maintained between 36 and 37.5°C by heating pads and lamps on the procedure bench. The right carotid artery was cannulated with a pressure-conductance catheter (Model SPR-839, Size 1.4F, Millar Instruments, Houston, TX) to record mean arterial pressure (MAP) in the right carotid artery. The catheter was then advanced retrogradly into the LV for recording of heart rate, LV ejection fraction (LVEF), CO, derivatives of LV pressures (+dP/dt<sub>max</sub> and -dP/dt<sub>min</sub>), LV end systolic pressure (LVESP), LV end diastolic pressure (LVEDP), LV end diastolic volume (LVEDV), time constant of isovolumic relaxation (Tau), maximal power, and LV conductance. Both pressure and conductance signals were fed to an analog-digital converter and analyzed by PowerLab Chart 4 software (AD Instruments Inc., Colorado Springs, CO). Catheter pressure baselines were recorded before and after each experiment. After LV pressure measurements, occlusion of the inferior vena cava was performed by direct pressure on the inferior vena cava in an open abdominal cavity to test volume dependent pressure loading in the heart. Ten  $\mu$ l of isotonic saline (0.9% NaCl) bolus injections were given in the jugular vein to obtain parallel conductance for the calculation of LV volume.

#### 2.7 Macrophage Isolation

# **Isolation Procedure**

Peritoneal macrophages were isolated from mice 4 days after i.p. injection (1.5 mL/mouse) of 3% thioglycollate medium (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) to induce peritonitis as previously described (Zhao et al. 2006). Briefly, a lavage (4 mL 3x) of the peritoneum was performed with RPMI 1640 media (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON). The cells were collected after centrifugation at 1000 g for 3 min and counted using a hemocytometer. The cells were then plated at a concentration of  $1.5 \times 10^5$  cells/well on 48 well Costar plates (Corning Inc., Corning, NY) and incubated for 2 hr at 37°C. Cells were then washed 4x with PBS to remove any non-adherent, and thus non-macrophage,

cells. Cells were incubated in RMPI 1640 media with 5% FBS overnight at 37°C in a humidified chamber containing 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.

#### Treatments

The control group contained RPMI 1640 media (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON) with 5% FBS, which served as the media for each treatment group. The media was supplemented with 2 mM Ca<sup>2+</sup> to reflect physiological conditions, unless stated otherwise. Annexin A5 treatment at 1  $\mu$ g/mL was used (Biovision, CA). LPS treatment had *Salmonella typhosa* (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) concentrations of 0.01, 0.1, 0.4, and 1 ng/mL. Cells treated with LPS+annexin A5 received combinations of A5 and LPS concentrations used in the individual treatment groups. After the 4 hr treatment, the culture medium and plate was collected and stored separately at -80°C.

#### 2.8 Isolation of Neonatal Cardiomyocytes

#### Isolation Procedure

Neonatal mouse cardiomyocyte cultures were prepared by methods previously described (Song et al. 2000; Peng et al. 2003; Peng et al. 2005). Briefly, ventricles from C57BL/6 WT mice born within 24 h were minced in a nominally Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Mg<sup>2+</sup> free Hanks balance solution. Cardiac myocytes were dispersed by 22.5  $\mu$ g/mL liberase blendzyme IV (Roche, Laval, QC) in D-Hanks solution at 37°C for 40 min. The isolated cells were pre-plated for 90 min to remove adherent non-cardiomyocytes. Purity of cardiomyocytes determined by flow cytometry using an  $\alpha$ -actinin antibody was 98.7% after 72 hours of cell culture (Hammoud et al. 2009). The cardiomyocytes were plated at a density of 0.7x10<sup>6</sup> cells/well in M199 medium containing 10% FCS in 24 well Costar

plates (Corning Inc., Corning, NY) pre-coated with 1% gelatin. Cells were incubated at 37°C in a humidified chamber containing 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. After culturing for 48 hr to allow confluence, cardiomyocytes were treated.

#### Treatments

The control group contained M199 with 10% FCS, which served as the media for each treatment group. Annexin A5 treatment was 1  $\mu$ g/mL (Biovision, Mountain View, CA). LPS treatment contained *Salmonella typhosa* (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) concentrations of 0.1, 0.2, and 1  $\mu$ g/mL. Cells treated with LPS+A5 received combinations of A5 and LPS concentrations used in the individual treatment groups. After 4 hr of treatment the culture medium and plate was collected and stored separately at -80°C.

## 2.9 Isolation of Adult Cardiomyocytes

#### Isolation Procedure

Cardiomyocytes were isolated from the hearts of adult C57BL/6 WT mice as previously described (Zhou et al. 2000; Burger et al. 2009). Mice were given heparin (50 USP units/mouse) before sacrifice. Hearts were retrieved and the extended aorta was cannulated and attached to the Langendorff perfusion system. The heart was perfused with buffer (NaCl 113mM, KCl 4.7 mM, MgSO<sub>4</sub>-7H<sub>2</sub>0 1.2 mM, NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> 0.6 mM, NaHCO<sub>3</sub> 12 mM, Glucose 5.5 mM, 2,3-butanedione monoxime 10 mM, taurine 30 mM) containing 45  $\mu$ g/mL of liberase blendzyme IV (Roche, Laval, QC) for 4 min to flush away blood and extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> before perfusion with myocyte digestion buffer (perfusion buffer pH 7.46, Ca<sup>2+</sup> 12.5  $\mu$ M, 45  $\mu$ g/mL liberase blendzyme IV (Roche, Laval, QC)) for approximately 8-10 min. The heart was then removed from the cannula and placed in a 60 mm dish containing the cell suspension. The heart was cut and teased into several small pieces and transferred to a 15 mL tube containing myocyte-stopping buffer (perfusion buffer pH 7.46, bovine calf serum 10%, Ca<sup>2+</sup> 10 mM). The cells were counted with a hemacytometer to check viability.

The cells were then re-suspended and exposed to a series of sedimentation and resuspension steps in buffers containing increasing concentrations of  $Ca^{2+}$  (12.5  $\mu$ M-1.0 mM) in a 5-step process allowing 4 min at each step. The cells were transferred to a 15 mL tube and resuspended in myocyte plating medium (minimum essential medium 0.9x, bovine calf serum 5%, 2,3-butanedione monoxime 10 mM, penicillin 100 U/mL, L-glutamine 2 mM,  $Ca^{2+}$  1.2 mM). The myocyte plating medium was equilibrated for 2-3 hr at 37°C in 2% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator to temperature and pH balance to approximately 7. Each heart routinely yields approximately  $1 \times 10^7$  rod-shaped myocytes and the cells were counted with a hemocytometer. The cell concentration was adjusted to 25,000 rod-shaped cells/mL and plated on laminin-coated 35 mm dishes at a density of 50 rod-shaped cells/mm<sup>2</sup>.

#### Treatment

Isolated adult cardiomyocytes were incubated in equilibrated myocyte culture medium (minimum essential medium 1x, penicillin 100 U/mL, L-glutamine 2 mM, FBS 5%) for 6 hr at 37°C in a 2% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator before treatment. The control group contained myocyte culture medium, which served as the media for each treatment group. The culture medium was equilibrated for 2-3 hr 37°C in a 2% CO<sub>2</sub> prior to use to adjust temperature and pH balance to approximately 7. Annexin A5 treatment was 1 µg/mL (Biovision, Mountain View, CA) and LPS treatment was 2.5 µg/mL of *Salmonella typhosa* (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). After 4 hr of treatment, the culture medium and plate were collected and stored separately at -80°C.

#### Adult cell RNA Isolation

Before freezing samples at -80°C, the cells were washed with PBS to remove residual media. RNA isolation was performed using an RNeasy kit (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON). Briefly, the duplicate dishes were combined to increase mRNA concentration and cells were lysed in RLT buffer and mixed with 1 volume of 70% ethanol. The solution was transferred to RNeasy columns to capture RNA. The columns were washed with kit buffers and RNA was collected in RNase free DEPC-H<sub>2</sub>O. RNA concentration was quantified by measuring the absorbance at 260/280 nm using a RNA/DNA calculator (Pharmacia Biotech, Gene Quant II, Baie d'Urfe, QC). cDNA synthesis was performed as previously described.

#### 2.10 Co-Immunoprecipitation

Co-immunoprecipitation of TLR4 and annexin A5 was performed using the Dynabead Protein G Immunprecipitation kits (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON) as per manufacturer instructions, with minor revisions. Briefly, the magnetic dynabeads were suspended in an antibody-binding buffer with 20 µg of TLR4 antibody (Santa Cruz, Santa Cruz, CA) for 1 hr at room temperature. To immunoprecipitate annexin A5 from the sample, heart tissues were homogenized in NP40 cell lysis buffer and sonicated for 10 seconds at 2 output watts. Protein concentrations were measured using a Lowry protein assay (Bio-Rad, Mississauga, ON) using bovine serum albumin (BSA) as the standard. Concentrations were measured to allow for equal loading of 1 mg protein per tube. Human recombinant annexin A5 (0.5 µg) (Biovision, Mountain View, CA) was added to the tissue samples and incubated with the TLR4-coated beads for 2 hr at room temperature. The samples were eluted from the dynabeads by boiling for 8 min in elution buffer and reducing protein-loading dye. The samples were then equally loaded on a 10% polyacrylamide gel and a western blot was performed for annexin A5 detection (anti-rabbit, 1:2000, Biovision, Mountain View, CA). The membrane was stripped using stripping buffer and rotating for 20 min at 50°C, and then reprobed for TLR4 detection (anti-rabbit, 1:500, Santa Cruz, Santa Cruz, CA) as a control.

#### 2.11 Statistical Analysis

All results are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by unpaired Student's t test with Bonferroni corrections was performed to detect differences between treatment groups using Prism 4.0 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA). Statistical significance was assigned when a *P* value was less than 0.05.

#### **Chapter 3 - RESULTS**

# 3.1 Annexin A5 treatment abrogates LPS-induced myocardial p38 and ERK MAPK phosphorylation

The LPS-induced TLR4 signalling pathway is regulated by MAPKs and can result in NF- $\kappa$ B activation within 30 min of LPS exposure (Baumgarten et al. 2001). Therefore, to determine if annexin A5 affects the TLR4 signalling pathway, myocardial p38 and ERK MAPK phosphorylation (P-p38, P-ERK) was measured after 30 min treatment of LPS (4 mg/kg i.p.). Phosphorylation MAPK activation was measured as a ratio of protein phosphorylation levels compared to total protein levels by western blot analysis. LPS treatment significantly increased phosphorylation of p38 (*P*<0.05, Figure 6A and 6B) and ERK (*P*<0.05, Figures 7A and 7B). The responses were inhibited with annexin A5 treatment (5 µg/kg i.v.) to similar levels as control (*P*<0.05, Figure 6 and 7).

# 3.2 Annexin A5 treatment abrogates LPS-induced myocardial TLR4 and NOX2 mRNA expression

To determine if annexin A5 affected LPS-induced gene transcription through the MAPK-dependent pathway, we measured the mRNA expression of TLR4 and NOX2, two proteins shown to be essential for cardiomyocyte LPS-induced gene expression (Baumgarten et al. 2001; Peng et al. 2005). mRNA expression was measured in isolated LVs after 4 hr of LPS (4 mg/kg i.p.) treatment using real-time RT-PCR with 28S mRNA expression as a loading control. LPS increased myocardial TLR4 and NOX2 mRNA expression by 2-fold and 3-fold respectively (P<0.05) and the response was inhibited with annexin A5 treatment (5 µg/kg i.v.)(P<0.01, Figures 8 and 9).



Figure 6. Annexin A5 abrogates LPS-induced myocardial p38 MAPK phosphorylation. Mice were treated with LPS (4 mg/kg i.p.) with and without annexin A5 (5  $\mu$ g/kg i.v.) for 30 min. Phosphorylation of p38 was analyzed by western blot analysis and expressed as a ratio of P-p38/Total-p38 band intensity. A: Representative western blot. B: Graph representing densitometry of Western blot analysis. N numbers are given in each column above. \* P<0.05 vs. Control and A5, † P<0.05 vs. LPS.



Figure 7. Annexin A5 abrogates LPS-induced myocardial ERK1/2 MAPK phosphorylation. Mice were treated with LPS (4 mg/kg i.p.) with and without annexin A5 (5  $\mu$ g/kg i.v.) for 30 min. Phosphorylation of ERK was analyzed by western blot analysis and expressed as a ratio of P-ERK/Total-ERK band intensity. A: Representative western blot. B: Graph representing densitometry of Western blot analysis. N numbers are given in each column above. \* P<0.05 vs. Control and A5, † P<0.05 vs. LPS.



**Figure 8.** Annexin A5 abrogates LPS-induced myocardial TLR4 mRNA expression. Mice were treated with LPS (4 mg/kg i.p.) with and without annexin A5 (5  $\mu$ g/kg i.v.) for 4 hr. TLR4 mRNA levels were measured as a ratio of 28S using real time RT-PCR analysis. N numbers are given in each column above. \* *P*<0.05 vs. Control and A5, † *P*<0.01 vs. LPS.



Figure 9. Annexin A5 abrogates LPS-induced myocardial NOX2 mRNA expression. Mice were treated with LPS (4 mg/kg i.p.) with and without annexin A5 (5  $\mu$ g/kg i.v.) for 4 hr. NOX2 mRNA levels were measured as a ratio of 28S using real time RT-PCR analysis. N numbers are given in each column above. \* *P*<0.05 vs. Control and A5, † *P*<0.01 vs. LPS.

#### 3.3 Annexin A5 treatment attenuates myocardial TNF-a and IL-1 $\beta$ expression

Our lab has shown previously that LPS-induced myocardial cytokine expression depends on the TLR4 signalling pathway that includes NOX2, p38, and ERK (Peng et al. 2003; Peng et al. 2005). Real time RT-PCR and ELISA analyses were used to measure cytokine mRNA and protein expression, respectively. After 4 hr treatment of LPS (4 mg/kg i.p.), LV myocardial TNF- $\alpha$  mRNA levels increased approximately 10fold, which was associated with a 2-fold increase in protein levels (*P*<0.05, Figure 10A and 10B). Conversely, LV myocardial IL-1 $\beta$  mRNA levels increased after LPS treatment (*P*<0.05) but protein levels did not change (Figure 11A and 11B). Annexin A5 treatment (5 µg/kg i.v.) inhibited TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  mRNA expression but did not fully decrease TNF- $\alpha$  protein levels to control values (*P*<0.05, Figure 10 and 11).



**Figure 10.** Annexin A5 attenuates LPS-induced myocardial TNF- $\alpha$  expression. Mice were treated with LPS (4 mg/kg i.p.) with and without annexin A5 (5 µg/kg i.v.) for 4hr. A: TNF- $\alpha$  mRNA levels were measured as a ratio of 28S using real time RT-PCR analysis. B: TNF- $\alpha$  protein levels measured by ELISA analysis. N numbers are given in each column above. \* P<0.05 vs. Control and A5, † P<0.05 vs. LPS.



Figure 11. Annexin A5 abrogates LPS-induced myocardial IL-1 $\beta$  mRNA expression. Mice were treated with LPS (4 mg/kg i.p.) with and without annexin A5 (5 µg/kg i.v.) for 4hr. A: IL-1 $\beta$  and mRNA levels were measured as a ratio of 28S using real time RT-PCR analysis. B: IL-1 $\beta$  protein levels measured by ELISA analysis. N numbers are given in each column above. \* P<0.05 vs. Control and A5, † P<0.05 vs. LPS.

#### 3.4 Annexin A5 treatment attenuates cardiac dysfunction during endotoxemia

Increased levels of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  have been shown to directly inhibit cardiac function during sepsis (Kumar et al. 1996; Cain et al. 1999; Grandel et al. 2000). Previously, our lab had demonstrated LPS-induced cardiac dysfunction after 4 hr using a Langendorff system (Peng et al. 2005). Contractile force was measured in the Langendorff system using a force-displacement transducer attached to the apex of the LV by a silk suture. Cardiac function was measured by changes in the force of contraction and relaxation (+dF/dt<sub>max</sub> and -dF/dt<sub>min</sub>, respectively) and heart work. After 4 hr of LPS treatment (4 mg/kg i.p.), ±dF/dt<sub>max/min</sub> and heart work were decreased when compared to control mice (P<0.01, Figure 12). Annexin A5 treatment (5 µg/kg i.v.) prevented LPS-induced cardiac dysfunction (P<0.01, Figure 12). There was no change in heart rate between any of the groups.

# 3.5 Annexin A5 treatment attenuates hemodynamic dysfunction during endotoxemia

Cardiovascular hemodynamics were measured to determine the extent of annexin A5 protection on cardiac function *in vivo*. A Millar pressure-conductance catheter was used to measure arterial pressure and changes in LV pressure and volume. Hemodynamic parameters obtained include MAP, heart rate, LVEF, CO,  $+dP/dt_{max}$  and  $-dP/dt_{min}$ , LVESP, LVEDP, LVEDV, Tau and maximal power (see Table 1 and Figure 13). Following LPS treatment (4 mg/kg i.p.), MAP,  $+dP/dt_{max}$  and  $-dP/dt_{min}$ , LVESP, LVEDP and maximal power were significantly decreased (P<0.01) while Tau was significantly higher (P<0.01). Treatment with annexin A5 (5 µg/kg i.v.) resulted in significantly higher MAP and lower Tau when compared to endotoxemic mice (P<0.05, Table 1). Importantly,  $+dP/dt_{max}$  and  $-dP/dt_{min}$  function was significantly higher by approximately 35% and 33% respectively in LPS with annexin A5 treatment compared to the LPS group (P<0.05, Figure 13).

### 3.6 Annexin A5 treatment attenuates LPS-induced plasma TNF-a and IL-1 $\beta$ levels

Systemic inflammation with excessive cytokine production is characteristic of sepsis. Blood was isolated from heart puncture and the plasma was separated by centrifugation to measure plasma cytokine levels by ELISA analysis. TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  levels were significantly higher in response to 4 hr LPS (4mg/kg i.p.) treatment (P<0.01), with TNF- $\alpha$  levels almost 5 times greater than IL-1 $\beta$  levels (Figure 14A and 14B). In contrast to myocardial cytokine expression where annexin A5 eradicated TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  expression after 4 hr of LPS (Figure 10 and 11), annexin A5 treatment (5 µg/kg i.v.) only attenuated TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  plasma levels by 34% and 51% respectively (P<0.05, Figure 14A and 14B). Although IL-1 $\beta$  levels with LPS and annexin A5 treatment were not significantly different from control values, they show a strong trend towards higher IL-1 $\beta$  levels (P=0.06).



Figure 12. Annexin A5 attenuates cardiac dysfunction during endotoxemia. Hearts were isolated and perfused in a Langendorff system after mice were treated with LPS (4 mg/kg i.p.) with and without annexin A5 (5  $\mu$ g/kg i.v.) for 4hr. A: Maximal and B: minimal first derivatives of force (+d*F*/dt<sub>max</sub> and -d*F*/dt<sub>min</sub>) were measured to reflect the rate of contraction and relaxation. D: Heart work was calculated as the product of force (gram) and C: heart rate (bpm). Data was analyzed by PowerLab Chart 4 program. N numbers are given in each column above. \* *P*<0.01 vs. Control and A5, † *P*<0.01 vs. LPS.



Figure 13. Annexin A5 attenuates hemodynamic dysfunction during endotoxemia. Mice were treated with LPS (4 mg/kg i.p.) with and without annexin A5 (5  $\mu$ g/kg i.v.) for 4 hr. Mice were anesthetized and measurements of LV pressures were obtained using a Millar pressure-conductance catheter. N numbers are given in each column above. \* P<0.05 vs. Control and A5, † P<0.05 vs. LPS.

Parameters	Control	A5	LPS	LPS+A5
n	10	11	9	11
Heart rate, beats/min	412±23	395±9	464±19	486±19
MAP, mmHg	86±3	83±5	49±3 **	59±4 ** †
LVEF, %	63±6	67±7	50±4	54±7
CO, μL/min	5188±834	3698±558	3153±786	4386±928
LVESP, mmHg	102±5	95±8	66±5 **	72±6 **
LVEDP, mmHg	6.9±0.9	8.3±2.1	3.6±0.1 **	4.5±0.5
LVEDV, µL	20±4	14±3	13±4	17±4
Tau, ms	7. <del>9±</del> 0.3	8.1±0.5	10.2±0.4 **	8.6±0.6 †
Maximal Power, mWatts	6.1±1.1	4.4±0.8	2.0±0.5 **	3.7±0.9

# Table 1: In vivo hemodynamic measurements in mice with endotoxemia

Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM and analyzed by two-way ANOVA followed by unpaired Student's t-test with Bonferroni corrections. \*\* P<0.01 vs. control,  $\dagger P$ <0.05 vs. LPS. MAP, mean artery pressure; LV ejection fraction (LVEF); CO, cardiac output; LVESP, LV end systolic pressure; LVEDP, LV end diastolic pressure; LVEDV, LV end diastolic volume; Tau, time constant of isovolumic relaxation.



Figure 14. Annexin A5 attenuates LPS-induced plasma TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  levels. Mice were treated with LPS (4 mg/kg i.p.) with and without annexin A5 (5 µg/kg i.v.) for 4 hr. The blood was isolated from heart puncture and the plasma was separated by centrifugation for 10 min at 5,000 rpm. A: TNF- $\alpha$  and B: IL-1 $\beta$  levels were determined by ELISA analysis. N numbers are given in each column above. \* P<0.01 vs. Control and A5, † P<0.05 vs. LPS.

#### 3.7 Annexin A5 does not affect LPS-induced TNF-a production in macrophages

Macrophages are an abundant source of TNF- $\alpha$  in the body (reviewed by Meldrum 1998). Since annexin A5 had an impact on TNF- $\alpha$  plasma levels (Figure 14), we isolated and treated macrophages to determine if annexin A5 was inhibiting TNF- $\alpha$ production at the cellular level. Macrophages were isolated from the peritoneum after induction of peritonitis and plated on 48 well plates at 1.5x10<sup>5</sup> cells/well. Treatment with 1 µg/mL of annexin A5 did not inhibit LPS-induced TNF- $\alpha$  release into the media after 4hr as measured by ELISA analysis (Figure 15). Surprisingly, annexin A5 treatment alone induced significant levels of TNF- $\alpha$  protein. This response was independent of Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration. We observed that medium supplemented with 2 mM Ca<sup>2+</sup> produced similar amounts of TNF- $\alpha$  after exposure to annexin A5 as Ca<sup>2+</sup>-free medium (Figure 15). Macrophages did not readily produce IL-1 $\beta$  so it could not be observed by ELISA analysis.

# 3.8 Effects of annexin A5 on neonatal and adult cardiomyocyte TNF-a production

Since annexin A5 treatment during endotoxemia decreases myocardial cytokine levels, we isolated and treated neonatal and adult cardiomyocytes to see if annexin A5 could interact directly with the myocardium. Neonatal cardiomyocytes were isolated in liberase-IV containing D-Hanks solution and treated after 48 hr of cell culture to allow confluence. Conversely, adult cardiomyocytes were treated after 6 hr of culture.

Neonatal cardiomyocytes produce substantial amounts of TNF- $\alpha$  in response to LPS (Peng et al. 2003) but do not produce detectable levels of IL-1 $\beta$  protein in the

supernatant (Westphal et al. 2007). We found that annexin A5 treatment of 1  $\mu$ g/mL did not affect TNF- $\alpha$  production and release into the supernatant after 4 hr LPS treatment of 0.1, 0.2, and 1  $\mu$ g/mL, as measured by ELISA analysis (Figure 16).

In contrast, adult cardiomyocytes had decreased TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  mRNA expression levels after 4 hr LPS (2.5 µg/mL) and annexin A5 (1 µg/mL) treatment, as determined by real-time RT-PCR (*P*<0.05, Figure 17A and 17B). Expression of TNF- $\alpha$ and IL-1 $\beta$  proteins in the media was not detectable because of the low plating density (50 myocytes/mm<sup>2</sup>).



Figure 15. Annexin A5 does not affect LPS-induced TNF- $\alpha$  production in isolated macrophages. Peritoneal macrophages were isolated and plated on 48 well Costar plates at a concentration of  $1.5 \times 10^5$  cells/well. Cells were treated for 4 hr one day after isolation and TNF- $\alpha$  levels were measured by ELISA analysis of cell media. The control group contained RPMI 1640 media with 5% FBS, which served as the media for each treatment group. LPS concentrations used were 0.01, 0.1, 0.4, 1 ng/mL, and annexin A5 concentration used was 1  $\mu$ g/mL. The Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration of the media was 2 mM unless otherwise noted. N numbers are given in each column above. \* *P*<0.01 vs. Control, LPS-0.01 and LPS-0.1.



Figure 16. Annexin A5 does not affect LPS-induced TNF- $\alpha$  production in neonatal cardiomyocytes. Neonatal cardiomyocytes were plated on 24 well Costar plates at a concentration of  $0.7 \times 10^6$  cells/well and treated 2 days after isolation. The control group contained M199 media with 10% FCS, which served as the media for each treatment group. Cells were treated for 4 hr with LPS concentrations of 0.1, 0.2, and 1 µg/mL and with an annexin A5 concentration of 1 µg/mL. TNF- $\alpha$  protein levels were measured by ELISA analysis of cell media. N numbers are given in each column above. \* *P*<0.01 vs. Control and A5, † *P*<0.01 vs. LPS-0.1.



Figure 17. Annexin A5 abrogates LPS-induced TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  mRNA expression in adult cardiomyocytes. Adult cardiomyocytes were plated on 35mm dishes. Culture conditions and adult cell viability required cell treatment 6 hr after isolation. Cells were treated with LPS 2.5 µg/mL and annexin A5 1 µg/mL for 4 hr, and A: TNF- $\alpha$  and B: IL-1 $\beta$  mRNA levels were determined by real time RT-PCR analysis with 28S as a control. N numbers are given in each column above. \* *P*<0.01 vs. Control and A5, † *P*<0.05 vs. LPS.

## 3.9 Annexin A5 binds to TLR4

It has been shown previously that annexin A5 can interact with and inhibit cell receptor function by binding to leucine-rich repeats through a conserved NH<sub>2</sub>-terminal sequence (Markoff et al. 2007). Since mouse TLR4 has 19 separate leucine-rich repeats, we performed a co-immunoprecipitation assay to identify potential interaction between annexin A5 and TLR4 to help explain annexin A5's ability to inhibit cytokine production. Magnetic dynabeads were coated with anti-TLR4 antibody (Santa Cruz, Santa Cruz, CA) to pull down TLR4 and blot for annexin A5. Annexin A5 human recombinant was used as a positive control and Figure 18 qualitatively shows an annexin A5 specific band in the control and LPS samples, denoting an interaction between TLR4 and annexin A5. The membrane was stripped and reprobed for TLR4 as a loading control.



Figure 18. Annexin A5 interacts with TLR4 in myocardial tissue as determined by coimmunoprecipitation analysis. Myocardial tissue was homogenized and incubated with 0.5  $\mu$ g of annexin A5. TLR4 protein was pulled down using magnetic beads coated with anti-TLR4 antibody. This was followed by a western blot analysis for annexin A5. The membrane was stripped and reprobed for TLR4. Lane 1, a control IgG with no sample. Lane 2, a control myocardial sample from mice treated with saline. Lane 3, myocardial sample from LPS-treated mice (4 mg/kg i.p. for 4 hours). Lane 4, recombinant annexin A5 positive control. The blot shown is a representative from 4 experiments.

# **Chapter 4 - DISCUSSION**

The protective effect of annexin A5 on heart function during sepsis was examined in mice with endotoxemia. It was found that administration of annexin A5 at the same time as LPS decreased myocardial TLR4 signalling through p38 and ERK pathways (Figure 6 and 7), leading to decreased levels of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  in the heart (Figure 10 and 11). The lower LPS-induced myocardial TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  levels after annexin A5 treatment was reflected in the plasma cytokine levels (Figure 14) and improved cardiac function during endotoxemia as measured using the Langendorff perfusion system (Figure 12) and the Millar pressure-conductance catheter system (Figure 13). Treatment of isolated adult mouse cardiomyocytes demonstrated a cardiomyocyte-specific effect of annexin A5 in inhibiting LPS-induced TNF-a and IL-1β mRNA expression (Figure 17). Co-immunoprecipitation revealed annexin A5's ability to interact with TLR4 (Figure 18). These results suggest that annexin A5 provides a protective role in the heart during endotoxemia. The effects of annexin A5 may be due to annexin A5's interaction with cell-surface receptor TLR4 and inhibition of inflammatory signalling that leads to cardiac dysfunction (Figure 4).

#### 4.1 Findings

The p38 and ERK MAPKs are intimately involved in the TLR4-signalling pathway after LPS stimulation (reviewed by Guha and Mackman 2001). TLR4 activation can lead to myocardial NF-κB nuclear translocation within 30 min of LPS exposure *in vivo* (Baumgarten et al. 2001) and result in gene expression that can last for hours. In this study we found that annexin A5 treatment abrogated p38 and ERK phosphorylation 30 min after LPS treatment (Figure 6 and 7). The lower p38 and ERK phosphorylation with annexin A5 treatment was reflected in lower mRNA transcription of TLR4 and NOX2 after 4 hr (Figure 8 and 9), both components that are essential in cardiomyocyte's response to LPS (Peng et al. 2005; Boyd et al. 2006).

It has been demonstrated that cardiomyocytes are the predominant source of inflammatory cytokines in the heart (Kapadia et al. 1995; Peng et al. 2003). In this study we established that annexin A5 treatment resulted in lower myocardial TNF- $\alpha$  mRNA and protein and IL-1 $\beta$  mRNA levels 4 hr after LPS treatment (Figure 10 and 11). This is consistent with a previous study in our lab that showed inhibition of p38 and ERK blocked myocardial TNF- $\alpha$  expression (Peng et al. 2005).

Biologically active TNF- $\alpha$  protein is produced in large amounts and appears as early as 1 hr after LPS exposure (Kapadia et al. 1995) while IL-1 $\beta$  is less prominent and is produced several hours later as a result of TNF- $\alpha$  induction (reviewed by Dinarello 1996; Cain et al. 1999). This could be one explanation of why IL-1 $\beta$  protein levels did not increase in the myocardium similar to TNF- $\alpha$  4hr after LPS treatment. In addition, the cytokines produced by the myocardium undergo post-transcriptional modification and are readily released into the circulation or surrounding tissue, an explanation likely responsible for the difference in fold change between TNF- $\alpha$  mRNA and protein production.

TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  have been shown to act synergistically to induce a shock-like state in animals (Okusawa et al. 1988) and inhibit myocyte contractility (Cain et al. 1999). Since cardiac depression is associated with increased TNF- $\alpha$  levels (Grandel et al. 2000), this thesis demonstrated that lower TNF- $\alpha$  levels after annexin A5 treatment correlated with better cardiac function during endotoxemia (Figure 12 and 13). We observed full protection of cardiac function using the ex vivo Langendorff perfusion model (Figure 12). The Langendorff model provided a constant flow rate that allowed the heart to function independent of fluid loss, preload limitations, and neurohumoral influences to achieve normal cardiac function that was not present in the whole animal hemodynamics analysis. In the hemodynamic analyses, annexin A5 attenuated cardiac dysfunction by approximately 35% and 33% in  $+dP/dt_{max}$  and  $-dP/dt_{min}$  respectively, which is similar to the 34% lower TNF- $\alpha$  plasma levels in the presence of annexin A5 (Figure 14A). IL-1β plasma levels were lowered by approximately 51% with annexin A5 treatment (Figure 14B), but circulating IL-1 $\beta$  levels were almost 5 times lower than TNF- $\alpha$  and would likely have a more modest role in cardiac dysfunction compared to TNF-α.

The lower MAP observed in the LPS treated mice reflects a decrease in SVR. Low blood pressure can activate the baroreceptor reflex and initiate a compensatory

58

mechanism to increase heart rate and maintain CO. There was a strong trend towards higher heart rates in LPS and LPS+annexin A5 treated mice (Table 1). Surprisingly, there was a trend toward a lower heart rate in the annexin A5-alone treated mice that did not reach significance (Table 1). Currently there is no evidence of annexin A5's involvement in autonomic regulation or adrenergic signalling to affect heart rate. Conversely, annexin A6 is involved in Ca<sup>2+</sup> regulation in the heart because functional studies reveal that knockout of annexin A6 led to an increase in Ca<sup>2+</sup> cycling efficiency from the sarcoplasm (Song et al. 2002). Ca<sup>2+</sup> cycling efficiency is increased when heart rate is increased to boost contractility of the cardiomyocytes. However, it was observed that the reduction or over-expression of annexin A6 had no effect on heart rate (Gunteski-Hamblin et al. 1996; Song et al. 2002).

It has also been shown that annexin A6 is reduced in the failing heart which increases contraction-relaxation dynamics of the heart to compensate for increased cardiovascular demand (reviewed by Kaetzel and Dedman 2004). In contrast, annexin A5 is upregulated in the failing heart (Matteo and Moravec 2000) and therefore probably has a different role, if any, in Ca<sup>2+</sup> cycling in the heart compared to annexin A6.

No research has been done to investigate annexin A5's interaction with the central nervous system or autonomic regulation of heart function. Given the evidence that annexin A5 did not affect heart rate in the Langendorff perfusion system (Figure 12), annexin A5's influence on heart rate could be a result of experimental procedures and sample sizes, or it may have an indirect effect not yet investigated.

59
This thesis has demonstrated that annexin A5 treatment prior to endotoxemia abrogates myocardial cytokine production and lessens cardiac dysfunction. In order to further elucidate the mechanism of annexin A5 function, we isolated peritoneal macrophages and neonatal and adult cardiomyocytes to determine if annexin A5 was interacting with the myocardium at the cellular level. In our study, we did not see annexin A5 inhibit the release of TNF- $\alpha$  from the macrophage or neonatal cell's into the supernatant (Figure 15 and 16). In contrast, we saw that annexin A5 treatment alone significantly increased TNF-α production in isolated macrophages (Figure 15). This response was independent of the  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration used. The  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration needed for half-maximal binding of annexin A5 to negatively charged phospholipids is approximately 10 - 100 µM (reviewed by Gerke and Moss 1997) and we observed that medium with or without  $Ca^{2+}$  produced similar amounts of TNF- $\alpha$  after exposure to annexin A5. Therefore, annexin A5 was able to interact with isolated macrophages in a Ca<sup>2+</sup>-independent manner. This is consistent with previous studies that demonstrate potential immunomodulatory effects of annexin A2 and A5 on macrophages (Munoz et al. 2007; Swisher et al. 2007; Swisher et al. 2009). Annexin-induced activation of inflammatory mediators in macrophages has been proposed to 'prime' macrophages for efficient microbial clearance and to increase the immunogenicity of apoptotic cells (Munoz et al. 2007; Swisher et al. 2007). Interestingly, we did not see any inflammatory response in the plasma (Figure 14) or myocardial tissue (Figure 10 and 11) after annexin A5 treatment alone, suggesting that macrophages may only respond to annexins in situations of stress, injury, or invasion.

60

While neonatal cardiomyocytes produce substantial amounts of TNF- $\alpha$  in response to LPS treatment (Figure 16), IL-1 $\beta$  was not detectable in the supernatant. This is consistent with a recent study that found rat neonatal cardiomyocytes produce IL-1 $\beta$ mRNA but did not release mature protein 5 hr after LPS treatment (Westphal et al. 2007) because a significant amount of pro-IL-1 $\beta$  remained in the cell (Mosley et al. 1987). This is also consistent with our results of IL-1 $\beta$  production in the myocardium where we did not see an increase in myocardial IL-1 $\beta$  protein expression after 4 hr LPS treatment (Figure 11). Similarly, macrophages are unable to process and release IL-1 $\beta$ solely by TLR ligands (Netea et al. 2009), which is the primary mode of activation by LPS.

In contrast to annexin A5's influence on macrophage and neonatal cardiomyocyte TNF- $\alpha$  expression, annexin A5 inhibited TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  mRNA expression after LPS treatment in adult cardiomyocytes (Figure 17). Moreover, a coimmunoprecipitation of annexin A5 and TLR4 displayed a possible interaction that could be attributed to annexin A5's ability to control myocardial inflammation through inhibition of TLR4 signalling (Figure 18). It is likely that annexin A5's conserved NH<sub>2</sub>terminal sequence interacts with one of TLR4's 19 leucine-rich repeats (Markoff et al. 2007). Annexin A5 has also been shown to interact with and regulate surface receptor expression (Ravassa et al. 2005). It's ability to interact with various cell surface receptors may remove it from the circulation and could help to explain its lasting impact hours after treatment given its short plasma half-life of approximately 15 min (Teoh et al. 2007). While we were able to measure cytokine mRNA levels in isolated adult cardiomyocytes, our inability to obtain TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  protein measurements is reflective of the difficulty to work with adult cardiomyocytes. Adult cardiomyocytes are less viable than their neonatal counter parts and therefore must be plated at a much lower density and treated on the same day as isolation. Given these culture conditions, mRNA measurements were the only achievable measurement for cytokine activity in adult cells. Also, under certain circumstances, adult cardiomyocytes may respond differently than their neonatal counterparts. For example, adult cardiomyocytes have been shown to have longer action potential durations than neonates (Nuss and Marban 1994) and they also undergo apoptosis at doses of LPS that do not initiate similar apoptotic responses in neonatal cells (Hickson-Bick et al. 2006).

Furthermore, it has been shown that neonatal cardiomyocytes express low levels of CD14 and LBP and are activated by LPS in a CD-14-independent manner (Cowan et al. 2000). Conversely, adult cardiomyocytes are hyposensitive to LPS exposure when CD-14 function is inhibited (Comstock et al. 1998). The differing expression and utilization of TLR4 binding components in adults and neonates may affect annexin A5's ability to bind to TLR4 via leucine-rich repeats and inhibit TLR4 signalling. Neonatal cardiomyocytes also show more similarity with macrophages in NF-κB pathway activation in response to LPS than with adult cardiomyocytes (Liu et al. 2001; Cuenca et al. 2007). This may shed light on the disparity of annexin A5 impact on macrophage and neonatal cells compared with adult cardiomyocyte TNF-α production.

Data from this thesis suggest that annexin A5 may interact with TLR4 to inhibit myocardial cytokine production, but it is possible that annexin A5 may also be interacting with other cell membrane receptors. In 2006, Tavener demonstrated through knockout studies that both TNF- $\alpha$  receptors 1 and 2 (TNFR1/2) are necessary for myocyte dysfunction after LPS treatment (Tavener and Kubes 2006). In addition, Tavener also reported that leukocyte TLR4 expression and not cardiomyocyte TLR4 expression was responsible for contractile dysfunction after LPS treatment (Tavener et al. 2004). However, while leukocytes are vital for the inflammatory response to infection, there is currently no direct evidence for leukocyte or neutrophil infiltration being responsible for cardiac dysfunction (Raeburn et al. 2002). The evidence that annexin A5 is able to inhibit pro-inflammatory cytokine mRNA expression in adult cardiomyocytes (Figure 17) is consistent with our observations that annexin A5 protects the heart from LPS-induced cardiac dysfunction (Figure 12 and 13), but not from systemic inflammation (Figure 14). So while the impact of other cell receptors cannot be ruled out and must be further investigated, we believe that cardiomyocyte TLR4 is the prominent cell receptor responsible for mediating sepsis-associated cardiac dysfunction through which annexin A5 principally acts (Baumgarten et al. 2001; Baumgarten et al. 2006; Boyd et al. 2006).

This thesis gives evidence for annexin A5 to be protective in endotoxemiainduced cardiac dysfunction by inhibiting myocardial cytokine production through direct interaction with TLR4.

### 4.2 Limitations

### Mouse Model of Human Disease Conditions

The use of mice to study human disease is necessary in the evaluation of potential therapeutics for both ethical and practical reasons. Animal models allow for control of experimental conditions and collection of tissue samples that are otherwise not possible in humans. Mice also provide an economic benefit with short gestation and maturity periods that allow increased sample sizes to make the study of adult related diseases much more accessible.

This thesis utilized LPS to simulate human sepsis. LPS, a gram-negative endotoxin, is effective in inducing a sepsis-like state in animal models (Natanson et al. 1986) but it is not exhaustive in simulating all sepsis-associated infections. In a study cataloging sepsis cases from 1979 through 2000, it was found that only 37.6% of the cases were a result of gram-negative bacteria infection, while the rest was made up of gram-positive bacteria, polymicrobial, and fungi infections (Martin et al. 2003). Moreover, in a recent study, it was determined that 67% of infections originated in the lungs while only 22% were in the abdomen (Vincent et al. 2006). Nonetheless, the model of LPS induced endotoxemia through intraperitoneal injection continues to be one of the most prominently accepted sepsis-models as it is easily reproduced and provides an appropriate model for studying many manifestations of sepsis.

### Dosing

Our lab has shown previously that an LPS dose of 4 mg/kg i.p. is appropriate to induce cardiac dysfunction after several hours in mice (Peng et al. 2005; Peng et al.

2008; Peng et al. 2009). In contrast, the effect of annexin A5 treatment during endotoxemia has not been examined. An annexin A5 dose of 5  $\mu$ g/kg i.v. was used because it provided cardiac protection during endotoxemia and there was no previous evidence of a more optimal dose of annexin A5 for sepsis-associated organ dysfunction. Previous studies investigating the role of diannexin, a recombinant annexin A5 homodimer, in liver ischemia/reperfusion injury used doses ranging from 100-1000  $\mu$ g/kg (Shen et al. 2007; Teoh et al. 2007). This dose is much greater than the dose of  $5\mu$ g/kg used in this thesis because ischemia/reperfusion injury is a greater risk to tissue and organ damage.

However, we did not investigate the efficacy of annexin A5 over a range of doses, thus limiting our knowledge of its potential clinical usefulness and impact on other organ systems during sepsis.

#### Timing

Although the total number of sepsis-associated deaths continue to increase, the total in-hospital mortality rate fell approximately 10% from the early 1980's to the late 1990's (Martin et al. 2003). Improved characterization and understanding of sepsis has no doubt had a beneficial effect on patient prognosis, but the major caveat in sepsis therapy continues to be the time at which identification of sepsis can occur. Early identification and therapy directly reduces mortality rates (Rivers et al. 2001).

In this thesis, annexin A5 was administered at the same time as LPS and may act as a preventative treatment rather than a restorative treatment. However, annexin A5 has been shown to inhibit inflammatory mechanisms and decrease tissue damage up to 1 hr after ischemia/reperfusion liver injury (Teoh et al. 2007). Since sepsis is a selfperpetuating disease, it is encouraging that annexin A5 may be able to inhibit the progression of inflammation.

In addition, it would be beneficial to have a more comprehensive time course detailing the inflammatory response in the presence of annexin A5. For example, MAPK phosphorylation was analyzed after 30 min to demonstrate its activity after LPS treatment and its involvement in the TLR4-signalling pathway (Figure 6 and 7). However, since cytokine production and cardiac function were assessed after 4 hr, we cannot conclude that there is a direct correlation between MAPK phosphorylation and cytokine production and cardiac function. Therefore, we are limited to a snapshot of the model we have established.

## 4.3 Suggestions for Future Research

Annexin A5 was originally identified as an anti-coagulant with antithrombotic activity (Reutelingsperger et al. 1985). More recently it has been shown to be a potent anticoagulant through inhibition of platelet adhesion, prothrombinase complex formation, and fibrin deposition, thus maintaining microvascular circulation (van Heerde et al. 1994; London et al. 1996; Kuypers et al. 2007; Shen et al. 2007; Teoh et al. 2007). Interestingly, the anticoagulant drotrecogin alfa (activated), a recombinant human activated protein C, has displayed improved survival and respiratory and cardiovascular function in sepsis in phase III clinical trials (Ely et al. 2003; Kalil et al. 2004). Activated protein C has also been demonstrated to have anti-inflammatory properties through inhibition of NF-κB activation, cytokine production, and leukocyte cell rolling and adhesion (Grey et al. 1994; Joyce and Grinnell 2002; Favory et al. 2006; Lehmann et al. 2008). Therefore, it would be beneficial to investigate the role of annexin A5 in the microvascular circulation and coagulatory systems during sepsis.

It is also possible that annexin A5 may improve cardiac function during endotoxemia by additional mechanisms not explored in this thesis. Despite the fact that apoptosis is very low in the myocardium and believed not to be responsible for cardiac dysfunction in endotoxemic mice, LPS and TNF- $\alpha$  induce caspase activation and apoptotic pathways in the heart (reviewed by Carlson et al. 2005; Crouser 2005). Moreover, inhibition of caspase activation or overexpression of Bcl-2 attenuated myocardial dysfunction in mice (Fauvel et al. 2001; Lancel et al. 2005). While there is currently no evidence for annexin A5 to have anti-apoptotic mechanisms beyond the inhibition of phagocytosis at the cell membrane level, it has been shown that uptake of annexin A5 in rat cardiomyocytes during endotoxemia could be caspase-dependent (Petillot et al. 2007). Therefore, further study needs to be done in order to determine if annexin A5 internalization is related to or simply a result of caspase activation and if it has any affect on caspase activity and apoptosis.

## 4.4 Conclusion

In conclusion, the results of this thesis demonstrate that annexin A5 treatment at the onset of endotoxemia attenuates TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  production and prevents cardiac dysfunction. It was found that annexin A5 might interact with TLR4 to inhibit an excessive LPS-induced inflammatory response. However, annexin A5 also forms a two dimensional shield on cell membranes and has anticoagulant effects. Whether these mechanisms contribute to the beneficial effects observed in this study cannot be excluded. This thesis provides encouraging evidence for annexin A5 to be a potential new therapeutic treatment in the management of sepsis and septic shock.

## **Chapter 5 - REFERENCES**

Abraham, E., R. Wunderink, H. Silverman, T. M. Perl, S. Nasraway, H. Levy, R. Bone,
R. P. Wenzel, R. Balk, R. Allred and et al. (1995). Efficacy and safety of
monoclonal antibody to human tumor necrosis factor alpha in patients with
sepsis syndrome. A randomized, controlled, double-blind, multicenter clinical

trial. TNF-alpha MAb Sepsis Study Group. JAMA 273(12): 934-41.

- Angus, D. C., W. T. Linde-Zwirble, J. Lidicker, G. Clermont, J. Carcillo and M. R. Pinsky (2001). Epidemiology of severe sepsis in the United States: analysis of incidence, outcome, and associated costs of care. Crit Care Med 29(7): 1303-10.
- Arbour, N. C., E. Lorenz, B. C. Schutte, J. Zabner, J. N. Kline, M. Jones, K. Frees, J. L. Watt and D. A. Schwartz (2000). TLR4 mutations are associated with endotoxin hyporesponsiveness in humans. Nat Genet 25(2): 187-91.
- Balasubramanian, K., B. Mirnikjoo and A. J. Schroit (2007). Regulated externalization of phosphatidylserine at the cell surface: implications for apoptosis. J Biol Chem 282(25): 18357-64.
- Baumgarten, G., P. Knuefermann, N. Nozaki, N. Sivasubramanian, D. L. Mann and J.
  G. Vallejo (2001). In vivo expression of proinflammatory mediators in the adult heart after endotoxin administration: the role of toll-like receptor-4. J Infect Dis 183(11): 1617-24.
- Baumgarten, G., P. Knuefermann, G. Schuhmacher, V. Vervolgyi, J. von Rappard, U.
  Dreiner, K. Fink, C. Djoufack, A. Hoeft, C. Grohe, A. A. Knowlton and R.
  Meyer (2006). Toll-like receptor 4, nitric oxide, and myocardial depression in endotoxemia. Shock 25(1): 43-9.

- Blick, M., S. A. Sherwin, M. Rosenblum and J. Gutterman (1987). Phase I study of recombinant tumor necrosis factor in cancer patients. Cancer Res 47(11): 29869.
- Bone, R. C., R. A. Balk, F. B. Cerra, R. P. Dellinger, A. M. Fein, W. A. Knaus, R. M.
  Schein and W. J. Sibbald (1992). Definitions for sepsis and organ failure and guidelines for the use of innovative therapies in sepsis. The ACCP/SCCM
  Consensus Conference Committee. American College of Chest
  Physicians/Society of Critical Care Medicine. Chest 101(6): 1644-55.
- Boyd, J. H., S. Mathur, Y. Wang, R. M. Bateman and K. R. Walley (2006). Toll-like receptor stimulation in cardiomyoctes decreases contractility and initiates an NFkappaB dependent inflammatory response. Cardiovasc Res 72(3): 384-93.
- Bresnihan, B., J. M. Alvaro-Gracia, M. Cobby, M. Doherty, Z. Domljan, P. Emery, G. Nuki, K. Pavelka, R. Rau, B. Rozman, I. Watt, B. Williams, R. Aitchison, D. McCabe and P. Musikic (1998). Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with recombinant human interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. Arthritis Rheum 41(12): 2196-204.
- Bryant, D., L. Becker, J. Richardson, J. Shelton, F. Franco, R. Peshock, M. Thompson and B. Giroir (1998). Cardiac failure in transgenic mice with myocardial expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha. Circulation 97(14): 1375-81.
- Burger, D. E., X. Lu, M. Lei, F. L. Xiang, L. Hammoud, M. Jiang, H. Wang, D. L. Jones, S. M. Sims and Q. Feng (2009). Neuronal nitric oxide synthase protects against myocardial infarction-induced ventricular arrhythmia and mortality in mice. Circulation 120(14): 1345-54.

- Cain, B. S., D. R. Meldrum, C. A. Dinarello, X. Meng, K. S. Joo, A. Banerjee and A. H. Harken (1999). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-1beta synergistically depress human myocardial function. Crit Care Med 27(7): 1309-18.
- Canadian Institute for Health Information, HSMR: A New Approach for Measuring Hospital Mortality Trends in Canada. (Ottawa, Ont.: CIHI, 2007).
- Canadian Institute for Health Information, In Focus: A National Look at Sepsis. (Ottawa, Ont.: CIHI, 2009).
- Carlson, D. L., M. S. Willis, D. J. White, J. W. Horton and B. P. Giroir (2005). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced caspase activation mediates endotoxin-related cardiac dysfunction. Crit Care Med 33(5): 1021-8.
- Caroff, M., D. Karibian, J. M. Cavaillon and N. Haeffner-Cavaillon (2002). Structural and functional analyses of bacterial lipopolysaccharides. Microbes Infect 4(9): 915-26.
- Carswell, E. A., L. J. Old, R. L. Kassel, S. Green, N. Fiore and B. Williamson (1975). An endotoxin-induced serum factor that causes necrosis of tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 72(9): 3666-70.
- Casey, L. C., R. A. Balk and R. C. Bone (1993). Plasma cytokine and endotoxin levels correlate with survival in patients with the sepsis syndrome. Ann Intern Med 119(8): 771-8.
- Chinnaiyan, A. M., K. O'Rourke, M. Tewari and V. M. Dixit (1995). FADD, a novel death domain-containing protein, interacts with the death domain of Fas and initiates apoptosis. Cell 81(4): 505-12.

- activates neutrophil extracellular traps to ensnare bacteria in septic blood. Nat Med 13(4): 463-9.
- Cohen, J. (2002). The immunopathogenesis of sepsis. Nature 420(6917): 885-91.
- Comstock, K. L., K. A. Krown, M. T. Page, D. Martin, P. Ho, M. Pedraza, E. N. Castro, N. Nakajima, C. C. Glembotski, P. J. Quintana and R. A. Sabbadini (1998). LPSinduced TNF-alpha release from and apoptosis in rat cardiomyocytes: obligatory role for CD14 in mediating the LPS response. J Mol Cell Cardiol 30(12): 2761-75.
- Cowan, D. B., D. N. Poutias, P. J. Del Nido and F. X. McGowan, Jr. (2000). CD14independent activation of cardiomyocyte signal transduction by bacterial endotoxin. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 279(2): H619-29.
- Crouser, E. D. (2005). Is cell death a prerequisite for cardiac dysfunction during sepsis? Crit Care Med 33(5): 1160-2.
- Cuenca, J., N. Goren, P. Prieto, P. Martin-Sanz and L. Bosca (2007). Selective impairment of nuclear factor-kappaB-dependent gene transcription in adult cardiomyocytes: relevance for the regulation of the inflammatory response in the heart. Am J Pathol 171(3): 820-8.
- Cunnion, R. E., G. L. Schaer, M. M. Parker, C. Natanson and J. E. Parrillo (1986). The coronary circulation in human septic shock. Circulation 73(4): 637-44.
- Damazo, A. S., S. Yona, F. D'Acquisto, R. J. Flower, S. M. Oliani and M. Perretti (2005). Critical protective role for annexin 1 gene expression in the endotoxemic murine microcirculation. Am J Pathol 166(6): 1607-17.

- Dinarello, C. A. (1996). Biologic basis for interleukin-1 in disease. Blood 87(6): 2095-147.
- Dinarello, C. A. (2005). Interleukin-1beta. Crit Care Med 33(12 Suppl): S460-2.
- Elahi, M., S. Asopa and B. Matata (2007). NO-cGMP and TNF-alpha counter regulatory system in blood: understanding the mechanisms leading to myocardial dysfunction and failure. Biochim Biophys Acta 1772(1): 5-14.
- Elliott, J. I., A. Surprenant, F. M. Marelli-Berg, J. C. Cooper, R. L. Cassady-Cain, C.
  Wooding, K. Linton, D. R. Alexander and C. F. Higgins (2005). Membrane
  phosphatidylserine distribution as a non-apoptotic signalling mechanism in
  lymphocytes. Nat Cell Biol 7(8): 808-16.
- Ely, E. W., P. F. Laterre, D. C. Angus, J. D. Helterbrand, H. Levy, J. F. Dhainaut, J. L.
  Vincent, W. L. Macias and G. R. Bernard (2003). Drotrecogin alfa (activated) administration across clinically important subgroups of patients with severe sepsis. Crit Care Med 31(1): 12-9.
- Fauvel, H., P. Marchetti, C. Chopin, P. Formstecher and R. Neviere (2001). Differential effects of caspase inhibitors on endotoxin-induced myocardial dysfunction and heart apoptosis. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 280(4): H1608-14.
- Favory, R., S. Lancel, X. Marechal, S. Tissier and R. Neviere (2006). Cardiovascular protective role for activated protein C during endotoxemia in rats. Intensive Care Med 32(6): 899-905.
- Feng, Q., X. Lu, D. L. Jones, J. Shen and J. M. Arnold (2001). Increased inducible nitric oxide synthase expression contributes to myocardial dysfunction and higher mortality after myocardial infarction in mice. Circulation 104(6): 700-4.

Finkel, M. S., C. V. Oddis, T. D. Jacob, S. C. Watkins, B. G. Hattler and R. L. Simmons (1992). Negative inotropic effects of cytokines on the heart mediated by nitric oxide. Science 257(5068): 387-9.

- Fisher, C. J., Jr., J. M. Agosti, S. M. Opal, S. F. Lowry, R. A. Balk, J. C. Sadoff, E. Abraham, R. M. Schein and E. Benjamin (1996). Treatment of septic shock with the tumor necrosis factor receptor:Fc fusion protein. The Soluble TNF Receptor Sepsis Study Group. N Engl J Med 334(26): 1697-702.
- Flaherty, M. J., S. West, R. L. Heimark, K. Fujikawa and J. F. Tait (1990). Placental anticoagulant protein-I: measurement in extracellular fluids and cells of the hemostatic system. J Lab Clin Med 115(2): 174-81.
- Galan, A. M., W. L. van Heerde, G. Escolar, A. Ordinas, J. Sixma and P. G. de Groot (2006). Antithrombotic action of annexin V proved as efficient as direct inhibition of tissue factor or thrombin. Eur J Clin Invest 36(9): 633-9.
- Gerke, V., C. E. Creutz and S. E. Moss (2005). Annexins: linking Ca2+ signalling to membrane dynamics. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 6(6): 449-61.
- Gerke, V. and S. E. Moss (1997). Annexins and membrane dynamics. Biochim Biophys Acta 1357(2): 129-54.
- Gerke, V. and S. E. Moss (2002). Annexins: from structure to function. Physiol Rev 82(2): 331-71.
- Ghosh, S., M. Ezban, E. Persson, U. Pendurthi, U. Hedner and L. V. Rao (2007).
   Activity and regulation of factor VIIa analogs with increased potency at the endothelial cell surface. J Thromb Haemost 5(2): 336-46.

- Giroir, B. P., J. H. Johnson, T. Brown, G. L. Allen and B. Beutler (1992). The tissue distribution of tumor necrosis factor biosynthesis during endotoxemia. J Clin Invest 90(3): 693-8.
- Goldhaber, J. I., K. H. Kim, P. D. Natterson, T. Lawrence, P. Yang and J. N. Weiss (1996). Effects of TNF-alpha on [Ca2+]i and contractility in isolated adult rabbit ventricular myocytes. Am J Physiol 271(4 Pt 2): H1449-55.
- Gonzalez-Conejero, R., J. Corral, V. Roldan, C. Martinez, F. Marin, J. Rivera, J. A.
  Iniesta, M. L. Lozano, P. Marco and V. Vicente (2002). A common polymorphism in the annexin V Kozak sequence (-1C>T) increases translation efficiency and plasma levels of annexin V, and decreases the risk of myocardial infarction in young patients. Blood 100(6): 2081-6.
- Grandel, U., L. Fink, A. Blum, M. Heep, M. Buerke, H. J. Kraemer, K. Mayer, R. M.
  Bohle, W. Seeger, F. Grimminger and U. Sibelius (2000). Endotoxin-induced
  myocardial tumor necrosis factor-alpha synthesis depresses contractility of
  isolated rat hearts: evidence for a role of sphingosine and cyclooxygenase-2derived thromboxane production. Circulation 102(22): 2758-64.
- Grey, S. T., A. Tsuchida, H. Hau, C. L. Orthner, H. H. Salem and W. W. Hancock (1994). Selective inhibitory effects of the anticoagulant activated protein C on the responses of human mononuclear phagocytes to LPS, IFN-gamma, or phorbol ester. J Immunol 153(8): 3664-72.
- Guha, M. and N. Mackman (2001). LPS induction of gene expression in human monocytes. Cell Signal 13(2): 85-94.

- Gulick, T., M. K. Chung, S. J. Pieper, L. G. Lange and G. F. Schreiner (1989).
   Interleukin 1 and tumor necrosis factor inhibit cardiac myocyte beta-adrenergic responsiveness. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86(17): 6753-7.
- Gunteski-Hamblin, A. M., G. Song, R. A. Walsh, M. Frenzke, G. P. Boivin, G. W.
  Dorn, 2nd, M. A. Kaetzel, N. D. Horseman and J. R. Dedman (1996). Annexin
  VI overexpression targeted to heart alters cardiomyocyte function in transgenic
  mice. Am J Physiol 270(3 Pt 2): H1091-100.
- Gurevitch, J., I. Frolkis, Y. Yuhas, Y. Paz, M. Matsa, R. Mohr and V. Yakirevich (1996). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha is released from the isolated heart undergoing ischemia and reperfusion. J Am Coll Cardiol 28(1): 247-52.
- Hammoud, L., D. E. Burger, X. Lu and Q. Feng (2009). Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-3 inhibits neonatal mouse cardiomyocyte proliferation via EGFR/JNK/SP-1 signaling. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 296(4): C735-45.
- Hammoud, L., F. Xiang, X. Lu, F. Brunner, K. Leco and Q. Feng (2007). Endothelial nitric oxide synthase promotes neonatal cardiomyocyte proliferation by inhibiting tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-3 expression. Cardiovasc Res 75(2): 359-68.
- Haziot, A., E. Ferrero, F. Kontgen, N. Hijiya, S. Yamamoto, J. Silver, C. L. Stewart and
  S. M. Goyert (1996). Resistance to endotoxin shock and reduced dissemination
  of gram-negative bacteria in CD14-deficient mice. Immunity 4(4): 407-14.
- Hickson-Bick, D. L., C. Jones and L. M. Buja (2006). The response of neonatal rat ventricular myocytes to lipopolysaccharide-induced stress. Shock 25(5): 546-52.

Hotchkiss, R. S., R. S. Rust, C. S. Dence, T. H. Wasserman, S. K. Song, D. R. Hwang, I.
E. Karl and M. J. Welch (1991). Evaluation of the role of cellular hypoxia in sepsis by the hypoxic marker [18F]fluoromisonidazole. Am J Physiol 261(4 Pt 2): R965-72.

- Hsu, H., J. Xiong and D. V. Goeddel (1995). The TNF receptor 1-associated protein TRADD signals cell death and NF-kappa B activation. Cell 81(4): 495-504.
- Janeway, C. A., Jr. and R. Medzhitov (2002). Innate immune recognition. Annu Rev Immunol 20: 197-216.
- Jerala, R. (2007). Structural biology of the LPS recognition. Int J Med Microbiol 297(5): 353-63.
- Joyce, D. E. and B. W. Grinnell (2002). Recombinant human activated protein C attenuates the inflammatory response in endothelium and monocytes by modulating nuclear factor-kappaB. Crit Care Med 30(5 Suppl): S288-93.
- Kaetzel, M. A. and J. R. Dedman (2004). Annexin VI regulation of cardiac function. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 322(4): 1171-7.
- Kalil, A. C., S. M. Coyle, J. Y. Um, S. P. LaRosa, M. A. Turlo, S. E. Calvano, D. P.
  Sundin, D. R. Nelson and S. F. Lowry (2004). Effects of drotrecogin alfa
  (activated) in human endotoxemia. Shock 21(3): 222-9.
- Kapadia, S., J. Lee, G. Torre-Amione, H. H. Birdsall, T. S. Ma and D. L. Mann (1995).
   Tumor necrosis factor-alpha gene and protein expression in adult feline
   myocardium after endotoxin administration. J Clin Invest 96(2): 1042-52.
- Kenis, H., L. Hofstra and C. P. Reutelingsperger (2007). Annexin A5: shifting from a diagnostic towards a therapeutic realm. Cell Mol Life Sci 64(22): 2859-62.

Kenis, H., H. van Genderen, A. Bennaghmouch, H. A. Rinia, P. Frederik, J. Narula, L. Hofstra and C. P. Reutelingsperger (2004). Cell surface-expressed phosphatidylserine and annexin A5 open a novel portal of cell entry. J Biol Chem 279(50): 52623-9.

Kenis, H., H. van Genderen, N. M. Deckers, P. A. Lux, L. Hofstra, J. Narula and C. P.
Reutelingsperger (2006). Annexin A5 inhibits engulfment through internalization of PS-expressing cell membrane patches. Exp Cell Res 312(6): 719-26.

King, J. E. (2007). Sepsis in critical care. Crit Care Nurs Clin North Am 19(1): 77-86.

- Kinugawa, K., T. Takahashi, O. Kohmoto, A. Yao, T. Aoyagi, S. Momomura, Y. Hirata and T. Serizawa (1994). Nitric oxide-mediated effects of interleukin-6 on [Ca2+]i and cell contraction in cultured chick ventricular myocytes. Circ Res 75(2): 285-95.
- Koopman, G., C. P. Reutelingsperger, G. A. Kuijten, R. M. Keehnen, S. T. Pals and M.
  H. van Oers (1994). Annexin V for flow cytometric detection of phosphatidylserine expression on B cells undergoing apoptosis. Blood 84(5): 1415-20.
- Krahling, S., M. K. Callahan, P. Williamson and R. A. Schlegel (1999). Exposure of phosphatidylserine is a general feature in the phagocytosis of apoptotic
  lymphocytes by macrophages. Cell Death Differ 6(2): 183-9.
- Krishnagopalan, S., A. Kumar and J. E. Parrillo (2002). Myocardial dysfunction in the patient with sepsis. Curr Opin Crit Care 8(5): 376-88.

- Kubota, T., C. F. McTiernan, C. S. Frye, S. E. Slawson, B. H. Lemster, A. P. Koretsky,
  A. J. Demetris and A. M. Feldman (1997). Dilated cardiomyopathy in transgenic mice with cardiac-specific overexpression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha. Circ Res 81(4): 627-35.
- Kumar, A., C. Haery and J. E. Parrillo (2001). Myocardial dysfunction in septic shock:
   Part I. Clinical manifestation of cardiovascular dysfunction. J Cardiothorac Vasc
   Anesth 15(3): 364-76.
- Kumar, A., A. Krieger, S. Symeoneides and J. E. Parrillo (2001). Myocardial
   dysfunction in septic shock: Part II. Role of cytokines and nitric oxide. J
   Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 15(4): 485-511.
- Kumar, A., V. Thota, L. Dee, J. Olson, E. Uretz and J. E. Parrillo (1996). Tumor necrosis factor alpha and interleukin 1beta are responsible for in vitro myocardial cell depression induced by human septic shock serum. J Exp Med 183(3): 949-58.
- Kuypers, F. A., S. K. Larkin, J. J. Emeis and A. C. Allison (2007). Interaction of an annexin V homodimer (Diannexin) with phosphatidylserine on cell surfaces and consequent antithrombotic activity. Thromb Haemost 97(3): 478-86.
- Lancel, S., P. Petillot, R. Favory, N. Stebach, C. Lahorte, P. M. Danze, B. Vallet, P.
   Marchetti and R. Neviere (2005). Expression of apoptosis regulatory factors
   during myocardial dysfunction in endotoxemic rats. Crit Care Med 33(3): 492-6.
- Last-Barney, K., C. A. Homon, R. B. Faanes and V. J. Merluzzi (1988). Synergistic and overlapping activities of tumor necrosis factor-alpha and IL-1. J Immunol 141(2): 527-30.

- Lehmann, C., R. Scheibe, M. Schade, K. Meissner, M. Grundling, T. Usichenko, M. Wendt, O. Hung, S. Whynot, M. Murphy and D. Pavlovic (2008). Effects of activated protein C on the mesenteric microcirculation and cytokine release during experimental endotoxemia. Can J Anaesth 55(3): 155-62.
- Leon, C., D. Nandan, M. Lopez, A. Moeenrezakhanlou and N. E. Reiner (2006). Annexin V associates with the IFN-gamma receptor and regulates IFN-gamma signaling. J Immunol 176(10): 5934-42.
- Levine, B., J. Kalman, L. Mayer, H. M. Fillit and M. Packer (1990). Elevated circulating levels of tumor necrosis factor in severe chronic heart failure. N Engl J Med 323(4): 236-41.
- Liu, E., W. Tu, H. K. Law and Y. L. Lau (2001). Changes of CD14 and CD1a expression in response to IL-4 and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor are different in cord blood and adult blood monocytes. Pediatr Res 50(2): 184-9.
- London, F., S. S. Ahmad and P. N. Walsh (1996). Annexin V inhibition of factor IXacatalyzed factor X activation on human platelets and on negatively-charged phospholipid vesicles. Biochemistry 35(51): 16886-97.
- Markoff, A., N. Bogdanova, M. Knop, C. Ruffer, H. Kenis, P. Lux, C. Reutelingsperger,
  V. Todorov, B. Dworniczak, J. Horst and V. Gerke (2007). Annexin A5 interacts
  with polycystin-1 and interferes with the polycystin-1 stimulated recruitment of
  E-cadherin into adherens junctions. J Mol Biol 369(4): 954-66.

- Martin, G. S., D. M. Mannino, S. Eaton and M. Moss (2003). The epidemiology of sepsis in the United States from 1979 through 2000. N Engl J Med 348(16): 1546-54.
- Matteo, R. G. and C. S. Moravec (2000). Immunolocalization of annexins IV, V and VI in the failing and non-failing human heart. Cardiovasc Res 45(4): 961-70.
- Maugeri, N., P. Rovere-Querini, V. Evangelista, C. Covino, A. Capobianco, M. T.
  Bertilaccio, A. Piccoli, L. Totani, D. Cianflone, A. Maseri and A. A. Manfredi
  (2009). Neutrophils phagocytose activated platelets in vivo: a
  phosphatidylserine, P-selectin, and {beta}2 integrin-dependent cell clearance
  program. Blood 113(21): 5254-65.
- McGeehan, G. M., J. D. Becherer, R. C. Bast, Jr., C. M. Boyer, B. Champion, K. M.
  Connolly, J. G. Conway, P. Furdon, S. Karp, S. Kidao and et al. (1994).
  Regulation of tumour necrosis factor-alpha processing by a metalloproteinase inhibitor. Nature 370(6490): 558-61.
- Meldrum, D. R. (1998). Tumor necrosis factor in the heart. Am J Physiol 274(3 Pt 2): R577-95.
- Miller, S. I., R. K. Ernst and M. W. Bader (2005). LPS, TLR4 and infectious disease diversity. Nat Rev Microbiol 3(1): 36-46.
- Mosley, B., D. L. Urdal, K. S. Prickett, A. Larsen, D. Cosman, P. J. Conlon, S. Gillis and S. K. Dower (1987). The interleukin-1 receptor binds the human interleukin-1 alpha precursor but not the interleukin-1 beta precursor. J Biol Chem 262(7): 2941-4.

- Munoz, L. E., S. Franz, F. Pausch, B. Furnrohr, A. Sheriff, B. Vogt, P. M. Kern, W.
  Baum, C. Stach, D. von Laer, B. Brachvogel, E. Poschl, M. Herrmann and U. S.
  Gaipl (2007). The influence on the immunomodulatory effects of dying and dead cells of Annexin V. J Leukoc Biol 81(1): 6-14.
- Natanson, C., P. W. Eichenholz, R. L. Danner, P. Q. Eichacker, W. D. Hoffman, G. C.
  Kuo, S. M. Banks, T. J. MacVittie and J. E. Parrillo (1989). Endotoxin and tumor necrosis factor challenges in dogs simulate the cardiovascular profile of human septic shock. J Exp Med 169(3): 823-32.
- Natanson, C., M. P. Fink, H. K. Ballantyne, T. J. MacVittie, J. J. Conklin and J. E.
   Parrillo (1986). Gram-negative bacteremia produces both severe systolic and diastolic cardiac dysfunction in a canine model that simulates human septic shock. J Clin Invest 78(1): 259-70.
- Nemoto, S., J. G. Vallejo, P. Knuefermann, A. Misra, G. Defreitas, B. A. Carabello and D. L. Mann (2002). Escherichia coli LPS-induced LV dysfunction: role of toll-like receptor-4 in the adult heart. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 282(6): H2316-23.
- Netea, M. G., C. A. Nold-Petry, M. F. Nold, L. A. Joosten, B. Opitz, J. H. van der Meer,
  F. L. van de Veerdonk, G. Ferwerda, B. Heinhuis, I. Devesa, C. J. Funk, R. J.
  Mason, B. J. Kullberg, A. Rubartelli, J. W. van der Meer and C. A. Dinarello
  (2009). Differential requirement for the activation of the inflammasome for
  processing and release of IL-1beta in monocytes and macrophages. Blood
  113(10): 2324-35.

- Nishijima, H., M. H. Weil, H. Shubin and J. Cavanilles (1973). Hemodynamic and metabolic studies on shock associated with gram negative bacteremia. Medicine (Baltimore) 52(4): 287-94.
- Nuss, H. B. and E. Marban (1994). Electrophysiological properties of neonatal mouse cardiac myocytes in primary culture. J Physiol 479 (Pt 2): 265-79.
- Ognibene, F. P., S. A. Rosenberg, M. Lotze, J. Skibber, M. M. Parker, J. H. Shelhamer and J. E. Parrillo (1988). Interleukin-2 administration causes reversible hemodynamic changes and left ventricular dysfunction similar to those seen in septic shock. Chest 94(4): 750-4.
- Okusawa, S., J. A. Gelfand, T. Ikejima, R. J. Connolly and C. A. Dinarello (1988).
  Interleukin 1 induces a shock-like state in rabbits. Synergism with tumor necrosis factor and the effect of cyclooxygenase inhibition. J Clin Invest 81(4): 1162-72.
- Oling, F., J. S. Santos, N. Govorukhina, C. Mazeres-Dubut, W. Bergsma-Schutter, G.
  Oostergetel, W. Keegstra, O. Lambert, A. Lewit-Bentley and A. Brisson (2000).
  Structure of membrane-bound annexin A5 trimers: a hybrid cryo-EM X-ray
  crystallography study. J Mol Biol 304(4): 561-73.
- Oral, H., G. W. Dorn, 2nd and D. L. Mann (1997). Sphingosine mediates the immediate negative inotropic effects of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in the adult mammalian cardiac myocyte. J Biol Chem 272(8): 4836-42.
- Parker, M. M., K. E. McCarthy, F. P. Ognibene and J. E. Parrillo (1990). Right ventricular dysfunction and dilatation, similar to left ventricular changes,

characterize the cardiac depression of septic shock in humans. Chest 97(1): 126-31.

- Parker, M. M., J. H. Shelhamer, S. L. Bacharach, M. V. Green, C. Natanson, T. M.
  Frederick, B. A. Damske and J. E. Parrillo (1984). Profound but reversible
  myocardial depression in patients with septic shock. Ann Intern Med 100(4):
  483-90.
- Parrillo, J. E., C. Burch, J. H. Shelhamer, M. M. Parker, C. Natanson and W. Schuette (1985). A circulating myocardial depressant substance in humans with septic shock. Septic shock patients with a reduced ejection fraction have a circulating factor that depresses in vitro myocardial cell performance. J Clin Invest 76(4): 1539-53.
- Parrillo, J. E., M. M. Parker, C. Natanson, A. F. Suffredini, R. L. Danner, R. E. Cunnion and F. P. Ognibene (1990). Septic shock in humans. Advances in the understanding of pathogenesis, cardiovascular dysfunction, and therapy. Ann Intern Med 113(3): 227-42.
- Peng, T., X. Lu and Q. Feng (2005). NADH oxidase signaling induces cyclooxygenase2 expression during lipopolysaccharide stimulation in cardiomyocytes. Faseb J
  19(2): 293-5.
- Peng, T., X. Lu and Q. Feng (2005). Pivotal role of gp91phox-containing NADH oxidase in lipopolysaccharide-induced tumor necrosis factor-alpha expression and myocardial depression. Circulation 111(13): 1637-44.
- Peng, T., X. Lu, M. Lei and Q. Feng (2003). Endothelial nitric-oxide synthase enhances lipopolysaccharide-stimulated tumor necrosis factor-alpha expression via cAMP-

mediated p38 MAPK pathway in cardiomyocytes. J Biol Chem 278(10): 8099-105.

- Peng, T., X. Lu, M. Lei, G. W. Moe and Q. Feng (2003). Inhibition of p38 MAPK decreases myocardial TNF-alpha expression and improves myocardial function and survival in endotoxemia. Cardiovasc Res 59(4): 893-900.
- Peng, T., E. Shen, J. Fan, Y. Zhang, J. M. Arnold and Q. Feng (2008). Disruption of phospholipase Cgamma1 signalling attenuates cardiac tumor necrosis factoralpha expression and improves myocardial function during endotoxemia. Cardiovasc Res 78(1): 90-7.
- Peng, T., T. Zhang, X. Lu and Q. Feng (2009). JNK1/c-fos inhibits cardiomyocyte TNFalpha expression via a negative crosstalk with ERK and p38 MAPK in endotoxaemia. Cardiovasc Res 81(4): 733-41.
- Petillot, P., C. Lahorte, E. Bonanno, A. Signore, S. Lancel, P. Marchetti, B. Vallet, G. Slegers and R. Neviere (2007). Annexin V detection of lipopolysaccharideinduced cardiac apoptosis. Shock 27(1): 69-74.
- Raeburn, C. D., C. M. Calkins, M. A. Zimmerman, Y. Song, L. Ao, A. Banerjee, A. H.
  Harken and X. Meng (2002). ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 mediate endotoxemic
  myocardial dysfunction independent of neutrophil accumulation. Am J Physiol
  Regul Integr Comp Physiol 283(2): R477-86.
- Ravassa, S., A. Bennaghmouch, H. Kenis, T. Lindhout, T. Hackeng, J. Narula, L.
   Hofstra and C. Reutelingsperger (2005). Annexin A5 down-regulates surface
   expression of tissue factor: a novel mechanism of regulating the membrane
   receptor repertoir. J Biol Chem 280(7): 6028-35.

- Reutelingsperger, C. P., G. Hornstra and H. C. Hemker (1985). Isolation and partial purification of a novel anticoagulant from arteries of human umbilical cord. Eur J Biochem 151(3): 625-9.
- Rittirsch, D., M. A. Flierl and P. A. Ward (2008). Harmful molecular mechanisms in sepsis. Nat Rev Immunol 8(10): 776-87.
- Rivers, E., B. Nguyen, S. Havstad, J. Ressler, A. Muzzin, B. Knoblich, E. Peterson and M. Tomlanovich (2001). Early goal-directed therapy in the treatment of severe sepsis and septic shock. N Engl J Med 345(19): 1368-77.
- Roldan, V., F. Marin, J. Pineda, P. Marco, J. Corral, V. Climent, A. Garcia, J. G. Martinez and F. Sogorb (2002). [Annexin V levels in survivors of early myocardial infarction]. Rev Esp Cardiol 55(12): 1230-4.
- Rosenzweig, S. D. and S. M. Holland (2004). Phagocyte immunodeficiencies and their infections. J Allergy Clin Immunol 113(4): 620-6.
- Shen, X. D., B. Ke, Y. Zhai, S. I. Tsuchihashi, F. Gao, S. Duarte, A. Coito, R. W. Busuttil, A. C. Allison and J. W. Kupiec-Weglinski (2007). Diannexin, a novel annexin V homodimer, protects rat liver transplants against cold ischemiareperfusion injury. Am J Transplant 7(11): 2463-71.
- Shimazu, R., S. Akashi, H. Ogata, Y. Nagai, K. Fukudome, K. Miyake and M. Kimoto (1999). MD-2, a molecule that confers lipopolysaccharide responsiveness on Toll-like receptor 4. J Exp Med 189(11): 1777-82.
- Smith, J. A. (1994). Neutrophils, host defense, and inflammation: a double-edged sword.J Leukoc Biol 56(6): 672-86.

Solomon, M. A., R. Correa, H. R. Alexander, L. A. Koev, J. P. Cobb, D. K. Kim, W. C.
Roberts, Z. M. Quezado, T. D. Scholz, R. E. Cunnion and et al. (1994).
Myocardial energy metabolism and morphology in a canine model of sepsis. Am
J Physiol 266(2 Pt 2): H757-68.

Song, G., S. E. Harding, M. R. Duchen, R. Tunwell, P. O'Gara, T. E. Hawkins and S. E. Moss (2002). Altered mechanical properties and intracellular calcium signaling in cardiomyocytes from annexin 6 null-mutant mice. FASEB J 16(6): 622-4.

- Song, W., X. Lu and Q. Feng (2000). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha induces apoptosis via inducible nitric oxide synthase in neonatal mouse cardiomyocytes. Cardiovasc Res 45(3): 595-602.
- Sriskandan, S. and J. Cohen (1995). The pathogenesis of septic shock. J Infect 30(3): 201-6.
- Steinmetz, T., M. Schaadt, R. Gahl, V. Schenk, V. Diehl and M. Pfreundschuh (1988). Phase I study of 24-hour continuous intravenous infusion of recombinant human tumor necrosis factor. J Biol Response Mod 7(5): 417-23.
- Swairjo, M. A. and B. A. Seaton (1994). Annexin structure and membrane interactions: a molecular perspective. Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct 23: 193-213.
- Swisher, J. F., N. Burton, S. Bacot, S. N. Vogel and G. M. Feldman (2009). Annexin A2 tetramer activates human and murine macrophages through TLR4. Blood.
- Swisher, J. F., U. Khatri and G. M. Feldman (2007). Annexin A2 is a soluble mediator of macrophage activation. J Leukoc Biol 82(5): 1174-84.

- Tavener, S. A. and P. Kubes (2006). Cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying
   LPS-associated myocyte impairment. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 290(2):
   H800-6.
- Tavener, S. A., E. M. Long, S. M. Robbins, K. M. McRae, H. Van Remmen and P. Kubes (2004). Immune cell Toll-like receptor 4 is required for cardiac myocyte impairment during endotoxemia. Circ Res 95(7): 700-7.
- Teoh, N. C., Y. Ito, J. Field, N. W. Bethea, D. Amr, M. K. McCuskey, R. S. McCuskey,
  G. C. Farrell and A. C. Allison (2007). Diannexin, a novel annexin V
  homodimer, provides prolonged protection against hepatic ischemia-reperfusion
  injury in mice. Gastroenterology 133(2): 632-46.
- van den Eijnde, S. M., M. J. van den Hoff, C. P. Reutelingsperger, W. L. van Heerde,
  M. E. Henfling, C. Vermeij-Keers, B. Schutte, M. Borgers and F. C. Ramaekers
  (2001). Transient expression of phosphatidylserine at cell-cell contact areas is
  required for myotube formation. J Cell Sci 114(Pt 20): 3631-42.
- van Genderen, H. O., H. Kenis, L. Hofstra, J. Narula and C. P. Reutelingsperger (2008). Extracellular annexin A5: functions of phosphatidylserine-binding and twodimensional crystallization. Biochim Biophys Acta 1783(6): 953-63.
- van Heerde, W. L., S. Poort, C. van 't Veer, C. P. Reutelingsperger and P. G. de Groot (1994). Binding of recombinant annexin V to endothelial cells: effect of annexin V binding on endothelial-cell-mediated thrombin formation. Biochem J 302 (Pt 1): 305-12.
- van Heerde, W. L., K. S. Sakariassen, H. C. Hemker, J. J. Sixma, C. P. Reutelingsperger and P. G. de Groot (1994). Annexin V inhibits the procoagulant activity of

matrices of TNF-stimulated endothelium under blood flow conditions. Arterioscler Thromb 14(5): 824-30.

- Vance, J. E. and R. Steenbergen (2005). Metabolism and functions of phosphatidylserine. Prog Lipid Res 44(4): 207-34.
- Vermes, I., C. Haanen, H. Steffens-Nakken and C. Reutelingsperger (1995). A novel assay for apoptosis. Flow cytometric detection of phosphatidylserine expression on early apoptotic cells using fluorescein labelled Annexin V. J Immunol Methods 184(1): 39-51.
- Vincent, J. L., Y. Sakr, C. L. Sprung, V. M. Ranieri, K. Reinhart, H. Gerlach, R.
  Moreno, J. Carlet, J. R. Le Gall and D. Payen (2006). Sepsis in European
  intensive care units: results of the SOAP study. Crit Care Med 34(2): 344-53.
- Voges, D., R. Berendes, A. Burger, P. Demange, W. Baumeister and R. Huber (1994). Three-dimensional structure of membrane-bound annexin V. A correlative electron microscopy-X-ray crystallography study. J Mol Biol 238(2): 199-213.
- Wakabayashi, G., J. A. Gelfand, J. F. Burke, R. C. Thompson and C. A. Dinarello (1991). A specific receptor antagonist for interleukin 1 prevents Escherichia coliinduced shock in rabbits. FASEB J 5(3): 338-43.
- Wang, X., B. Campos, M. A. Kaetzel and J. R. Dedman (1999). Annexin V is critical in the maintenance of murine placental integrity. Am J Obstet Gynecol 180(4): 1008-16.
- Warren, H. S. (2005). Toll-like receptors. Crit Care Med 33(12 Suppl): S457-9.
- Westphal, E., C. Li, C. Pilowski, S. Koch, H. Ebelt, U. Muller-Werdan, K. Werdan and H. Loppnow (2007). Endotoxin-activated cultured neonatal rat cardiomyocytes

express functional surface-associated interleukin-lalpha. J Endotoxin Res 13(1): 25-34.

- Wolfard, A., J. Kaszaki, C. Szabo, L. Szalay, S. Nagy and M. Boros (2000). Prevention of early myocardial depression in hyperdynamic endotoxemia in dogs. Shock 13(1): 46-51.
- Yokoyama, T., L. Vaca, R. D. Rossen, W. Durante, P. Hazarika and D. L. Mann (1993).
  Cellular basis for the negative inotropic effects of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in the adult mammalian heart. J Clin Invest 92(5): 2303-12.
- Zhao, Q., X. Wang, L. D. Nelin, Y. Yao, R. Matta, M. E. Manson, R. S. Baliga, X. Meng, C. V. Smith, J. A. Bauer, C. H. Chang and Y. Liu (2006). MAP kinase phosphatase 1 controls innate immune responses and suppresses endotoxic shock. J Exp Med 203(1): 131-40.
- Zhou, Y. Y., S. Q. Wang, W. Z. Zhu, A. Chruscinski, B. K. Kobilka, B. Ziman, S. Wang, E. G. Lakatta, H. Cheng and R. P. Xiao (2000). Culture and adenoviral infection of adult mouse cardiac myocytes: methods for cellular genetic physiology. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 279(1): H429-36.

Zingarelli, B. (2005). Nuclear factor-kappaB. Crit Care Med 33(12 Suppl): S414-6.

# **Appendix: UWO Animal Use Sub-Committee Protocol Approvals**



03.31.08 "This is the 1<sup>st</sup> Renewal of this protocol "A Full Protocol submission will be required in 2011

Dear Dr. Feng

Your Animat Use Protocol form entitled:

Modulation of cardiac function in myocardial infarction, sepsis and diabetes

has been approved by the Animal Use Subcommittee. This approval is valid from 04.01.08 to 03.31.09 The protocol number for this project remains as 2007-011-03

- This number must be indicated when ordering animals for this project.
   Animals for other projects may not be ordered under this number.
   If no number appears please contact this office when grant approval is received.
   If the application for functing is not successful and you wish to proceed with the project, request that an internal scientific peer review be performed by the Animal Use Subcommittee differ.
   The performance of adjustment when the internal must be functioned through the ACMS office. Health
- 4. Purchases of animals other than through this system must be cleared through the ACVS office. Health certificates will be required.

#### ANIMALS APPROVED FOR 1 YEAR

#### Highest Pain Level: D

Species	Qther Detail	Housing/Use Locations	Animal # Totat for 1 Year
Flat	Sprague-Dawley	LHSC-VAL	200
Mouse	G57EL%	HSACF / M849	1000
Mouse	Various KO Strains (as outlined in protocol renewal)	HSACF / M249	709
Nouse	Various other Transgemic Strains (as outlined in protocol renewal)	HSACF / M249	500

#### **REQUIREMENTS/COMMENTS**

Please ensure that individual(a) performing procedures on live animala, as described in this protoent, are familiar with the contents of this document.

c.c. Approved Protocol - Q Feng, T Kirkpatrick, W Lagerwerf Approved Letter - T Kirkpatrick, W Lagerwerf



The University of Western Ontario

Animal Use Subcommittee / University Council on Animal Care Health Sciences Centre, + London, Ontario + CANADA - N6A 5C1 PH: 519-661-2111 ext. 86770 • FL 519-661-2028 • www.nwo.ca / animal